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Friday, September 15, 2006

‑‑‑ Upon commencing at 9:02 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  We're ready to begin.  Can everyone hear me?  No?  Yes, button is on.  Can you hear me at the back?


Can you hear me at the back now?


MR. RATTRAY:  Barely.  The mikes don't seem to be working.


MS. NOWINA:  Is this our first day using this room?


[Off‑the‑record discussion]


MS. NOWINA:  Right.  We'll just wait for a moment, then.


MS. HARE:  In the meantime, would some people like to move up to the front?  


MS. MAYER:  Can you hear me back there?  Nothing?  Testing, 1-2-3.  Testing, 1-2-3.  Nothing.   Testing, 1-2-3.  Testing 1-2-3.


[Off‑the‑record discussion]


MS. NOWINA:  Can you hear me now?  A little bit?  Let me try this side.  Can you hear me?  So this one works better.


MR. WHITE:  It is not coming through the mike.


MR. RUPERT:  Does this work?  No.  No.


MS. NOWINA:  So a none of these things work.  Reluctantly, we'll move up to the dias.  Oh, turn yours on.  No.


--- General discussion concerning microphones


[Off‑the‑record discussion]


MS. NOWINA:  All right, let's try again.  Can you hear me now if I yell into the mike?  Yes?  


All right.  It's a strain, but you can hear me?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah.  No, it's coming through.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's -- tell me if you miss something.  I'm not going to talk for long, so ...


We will proceed, then, and, again, apologies for the technology.  I was blessed by doing the first proceeding in the other hearing room, as well.  I don't know how you draw these straws, but there you go.


So welcome and thanks for coming.  This is going to be an interesting day.  As you can tell, this is not a hearing.  It's an informal day.


For those of you who don't know me, I'm Pamela Nowina.  I'm Vice‑Chair of the Board, and with me is Bill Rupert and he's a Board Member.  And we are what we call sponsors of this process.


So I'm sure you all know why you're here, but just to put it on the record, this is part of a process to determine methodology for setting the payments for OPG's designated assets.  You've seen the discussion paper that the Board Staff has put out, and you've given your comments on that.  


During the consultation period, someone suggested that we have this oral presentation meeting, and Bill and I thought that was a great idea.  These are new concepts.  I think we're all struggling to understand exactly what they mean and what the implications will be of rolling out one of these methodologies.


So we really appreciate having the day to ask you questions, for us to get into a discussion as much as we can, to help clarify what these different methodologies would look like.


So, as I said, this is not an adjudicative process.  Bill and I are not here as decision‑makers, but we do represent the Board and we will be talking to the entire Board about the approach that we should take at some point, and that's how the decision will be made.


I'm going to go over the agenda in a moment, but first I'd like to set a few ground rules for the day.


Selfishly, and because it's our meeting, Bill and I may reserve priority status for our questions, so we want to ensure that our questions are answered, but we certainly will give all of you an opportunity to ask questions, as well.


In general, for each of the three regulatory options, parties will make their presentation, so if there are three parties presenting for one regulatory option, they will all make their presentations, and then we'll ask questions and everyone can ask questions to any one of those presenters.


The question period will be, hopefully, about half of the allotted time we have for that particular option.  So, presenters, please keep an eye on the schedule and think about that.  We want to leave at least half of the time for questions.


Someone suggested - and thank you for the suggestion - that we'll use the parliamentary method for questioning, just to make sure everyone has an opportunity.  So everyone who wants to ask a question will be allowed to ask a question, and one supplemental question, and then we'll go on to someone else.  If we get all the questions done and we still have time, then we'll go for another round.
      Today's session is transcribed, and therefore that does create some finality, just so the transcriber can hear everything that’s going on and get everyone's name on the record.  So I would ask that when you speak, whether it's asking a question or doing your presentation, that you first say who you are and who you're representing so we can get that on the record for the transcription.

      So with that, I'll go over the agenda with you for a moment.  Does everyone have a copy of the agenda?

      After I've completed these brief remarks, Marika is going to go over the Board process so you understand where we've come from and where we're going to.

      Then we're going to have the regulatory option of incentive regulation, and there are three presenters there.  Board Staff first.  They have a very brief presentation because you've all seen their paper.  AMPCO, and Schools, and then we'll have questioning on that.

      Then we'll have a break.

      We'll then have the cost-of-service model, one presenter for that and then the questions.  And then lunch, the regulatory contracts model, with the presenter for the group representing that -- supporting that, plus OPA, IESO, and then the questions, a break, and then OPG gets their own time slot, I think rightly, because it's their future that we're affecting.

      Then we have wrap-up and a discussion of the next steps.

      Are there any questions on the agenda or anything else today that I can answer for you?

      All right.  We will just do our presentations from your seat.  I think that that will work better and help keep the informal tone that we hope to have -- oh, one other request of the transcriber, and that is that only one person speak at a time, because it's difficult for her to hear if there is more than one person speaking at a time.

      The other thing that we have found in the other hearing room is that the mikes are quite sensitive, so if you forget and you leave your mike on, you may find that others are picking up the whispers that you're saying to your colleagues.  So you might want to make sure that your mikes are turned off.

      I'm going to ask Gaetanne, because I didn't ask you sooner, to describe the microphone system a bit for us now.

     MS. MAYER:  The way the microphone system works is that they're controlled here at the dais.  Can you hear me now?  And when they're turned on here, all your microphones are on but they're muted.  So when you speak, you have to turn the green button, press the green button, and the light comes on and you can speak.  And then when you're finished speaking, you turn the green button off.

      At the back, you'll notice that there's little balls hanging from the ceiling.  Those are also microphones.  So if there is anyone at the back that wish to pose a question, those microphones are also very sensitive and we can pick up the conversations back there.

      The on-air light indicates that this session is being broadcast through the Internet.

     We've levelled off this room for hearing setting.  And this here is a new scene, so we haven't really had the experience of having the room in this setup.  So we will monitor the levels during this session, and adjust them accordingly.

     MR. PENNY:  I have a question on process.  I confess

I'm not familiar with the parliamentary system.  I'm familiar with the Superior Court of Justice system.  So on this one question approach, is that applied literally in the sense that it's one question or one series of questions on a particular issue?

     MS. NOWINA:  One, plus one supplementary?

     MR. PENNY:  I see.  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Any other questions?  Oh, the other thing that Gaetanne didn't mention about the mikes is these are desks of two, so they're actually connected.  If you turn on one mike, the one next to you will go on as well.  Just so you know that.  Or turn it off, and the same thing happens.

     MS. MAYER:  And also, if I could mention that if you cover your microphone and your speaker at the same time, you will get a very loud feedback; and to stop the feedback, we need to turn off the microphones here at the dais.  So please beware of not covering with paper or binders both your microphone and speaker at the same time.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Marika.  Thanks Gaetanne.  

And with that I'm going to turn it over to Marika Hare, with Board Staff, who's going to go through the Board process with us.

     MS. HARE:  And just one other matter.  When you do ask your question, if you could say your name and where you're from, again, for the court reporter.  

So in terms of the objectives of today's session -- I think Pamela's covered them in terms of providing an open forum for discussion of the issues and concerns with respect to Board Staff's recommendation and to provide additional information to the Board sponsors that would assist in their formulating recommendations to take to the rest of the Board.  So for those not involved in the process to date, let me just recap how we got to today.

      Staff commissioned a consultant's study of possible economics.  The consultant was London Economics, and E.J. Goulding is here with us today in the event that there are any questions stemming back from that first report.

      On May 8th, there was a first draft based on the consultant's study.  And in that staff report, there were no recommendations.  We laid out the three options.

      Between May and June, there were a number of meetings that we held with interested parties.  We had two plenary sessions where we invited all interested parties, and then we had a number of smaller meetings.

      Those meetings helped formulate staff's recommendation, and in the second draft we did include a recommendation in terms of how the Board -- the methodology by which the Board would set payments for the output from OPG's prescribed assets.

      That report was posted on the Web on July 6th, and we invited comments.

     On August 4th, we allowed for reply submissions, and some parties took advantage of that and commented on what they saw from other submissions. And then on August 10th, we announced that we would have a day of oral presentations.

     So what will happen next?  We're allowing, then, a further two weeks for written comments, and those would be due September 29th.  

Now, not all parties may want to take advantage of that opportunity, because you may feel that everything that you've said to that point remains as is.  But for those that would like to comment based on what they heard today, and on further reflection, those comments would be due on September 29th, and again they'll be posted on the Board's website.

      The sponsors will then look at all of the information, all of the comments, that we've received to date, and present a recommendation to the Board - we're hoping by mid-October – with, then, a Board decision on the regulatory methodology by the end of October.

      Following that, Board Staff will develop filing guidelines for OPG, and that will, again, involve comments, but we won't be then discussing whether or not it's incentive regulation of cost of service.  There will be guidelines to assist OPG in putting forward their application based on the methodology that was already determined.

      And we're hoping, then, to commence the first rate order process by this spring of 2007.

      I'll turn it now to Rusty Chute, who will give an overview of Board Staff's recommendation.


PRESENTATION BY MR. CHUTE:

     MR. CHUTE:  Thank you.  All of you should have had our discussion paper and reviewed it extensively, and most of you have made some comments and submitted them to Board

Staff.

      I am just going to go to some of the list of recommendations and some of the decision-making process around those recommendations and will take questions afterwards.

      So the primary recommendation was for an incentive regulation methodology using the current payments as the initial base, with input, cost, and productivity factors determined in a Board proceeding in the future.

      As Marika had mentioned in the process, there is contemplation of developing filing guidelines for information from OPG, which will inform the decision process of the Board.  And the Staff recommends that there be a quarterly filing of this financial and cost data into the future.


The Board is expected to use that data to set future adjustments and to establish the input costs and productivity factors.  This may require some outside consulting help to develop this or a productivity study.  That was contemplated and discussed in the paper.


We also expect to analyze the capital structure and the ROE issues associated with OPG, and then to assess the financial impact of the variance and deferral accounts.


With respect to the hydroelectric assets, the Board Staff recommends that we assess the 1,900 megawatt-hour output limit and different treatment of the Beck pump storage unit as an efficiency incentive.


With respect to nuclear assets, efficiency and service incentives that may use payment structures such as SQI and "sculpted payments", the Board Staff recommended that we investigate that.


Initial cost input factors could be based on statistical indices commonly collected, such as GDPPI, and a productivity factor based on a Board-commissioned study.


Also, Staff is recommending that the Board examine the need for Z‑factors and off-ramps for unanticipated events outside of OPG's control.


And we also recommended that the initial order in effect for a minimum of one year, but the actual duration be set by the Board, determine suitability of continuing initial payment levels based on OPG data filings.


So it's really a data‑driven process for the length of duration of the first order.


How did the Staff arrive at these recommendations?  Well, there was a fairly lengthy discussion/debate process within Board Staff, primarily from the policy development group and the market operations group.


What we did was assess the legal status as contained in the statute, as well as in Regulation 53/05 and our own regulatory criteria.


We had some other considerations that we balanced, such as price stability and volatility, mitigation of OPG's market power, maintaining the financial integrity of the corporation, and opportunities to improve OPG's operating efficiencies and containing costs.


We also took input from the interested parties as part of the process of developing the paper.  Your comments were very constructive and useful in helping us formulate our recommendations.


And as I'd mentioned before, there were ‑‑ well, actually three groups.  Our legal department was also engaged, but they're always engaged in anything that we do.


So that was the internal process.  

Our actual decisions were based on compliance with the legislation and the regulations.  This was a mandatory condition for any of our recommendations, and we felt that the methodology should balance an opportunity for consumer concerns and the reliability and long-term supply adequacy.  These, as the Board takes as an object, is to represent the consumers' interests.


Payments should provide revenue sufficient to cover operating costs and maintain assets and a return on equity.  And Board Staff arrived at the conclusion of ‑‑ recommendation for maintaining the current payment levels.  We assumed that they were adequate for now, based on what we'd seen in terms of financial returns, the assessment done by the government, Ministry of Finance, Ministry of Energy, prior to making a decision as to those levels, as well as some of our internal discussion around the adequacy of those levels.


And we felt that the methodology must provide the opportunity to adjust payments if need is demonstrated, and need being demonstrated in a Board process, likely a hearing, though we haven't made any recommendations as to that process.  That's a Board decision.


And the methodology should also allow for opportunities to encourage efficient operation of all of OPG's assets.


MS. NOWINA:  So that was the first presentation for incentive regulation, and we'll take questions to Board Staff later with the others who are supporting incentive regulation.


And the next one up for that is AMPCO.  

Adam?


MR. WHITE:  I'd ask if everybody has a copy because ...


MS. NOWINA:  Does everyone have a copy of the presentation?  We will be displaying it.  Adam will introduce himself in a moment.


PRESENTATION BY MR. WHITE:

MR. WHITE:  My name is Adam White.  I'm the president of AMPCO.  With me is Mark Rodger, who is our counsel in this matter, and Larry Murphy, who is our expert.  My comments are going to be brief; well, as brief as is possible for me.  I'm not going to walk through all of the slides.  You have them.


What I'm first going to do, though, is clarify our position.  It's not entirely accurate to suggest that we support incentive regulation.  We do support the Board Staff proposal for a modified cost-of-service approach, starting from where we are now.  We do, however, have some reservations about moving too quickly to a formulaic approach to performance incentives, and I'll get into that a little bit.


My thinking about these kinds of issues always starts with the basic principles set out in the Act.  The purposes of the Act, among the purposes of the Act, are to promote efficiency, to maintain the financial viability of the sector, and to protect the interests of consumers with respect to price, adequacy, reliability, and quality of electricity service.


Everything we do, I think, has to be tested against those basic purposes of the legislation and the will of the Legislature.  It is those purposes and principles that guides the shareholders' view, and it is, of course, those purposes and principles that guides the view of the regulator and the other regulatory agencies created in the Act. 


So our argument consists of a number of basic points.  One is that the assets that we are looking at in this process are heritage assets.  The government, the shareholder, has described them as heritage assets.  The electricity conservation and supply task force, broadly representative of the electricity industry itself, has described them as heritage assets.  The legislation and the regulations treat them as heritage assets.


The other element of that is that these are not ‑‑ this is not a commercial enterprise like any other commercial enterprise.  It's simply not the case.  The risks are borne entirely, in respect to financial and operational risks, are borne entirely by customers, and that is explicit in the legal and regulatory structure of the industry.


It used to be until recently that the shareholder, and by proxy the citizens of Ontario, bore risks.  That's not the case now.  All of the costs are flowed through to customers.  If production falls short of expectations, the risks are borne by customers.  If there are unbudgeted costs or delays in construction projects and so on, the risks are borne by customers.


So this company doesn't bear the kinds of risks that other commercial enterprises bear.  It doesn't bear the kinds of risks that other regulated enterprises will bear.  And, again, that just serves to reinforce the view and the conclusion that these are heritage assets, and that is explicitly why they are prescribed assets and that's why we're here today.


AMPCO supports, in almost all things, a practical, incremental approach to the regulation of the electricity sector.  We support approaches that move forward in a measured way, that minimize uncertainty and risk and that promote stability and predictability. 
      We're not -- AMPCO's members are not of the electric sector.  Electricity is a major input to us.  It's not our core business.  What we want to get from the structure and regulation of the electricity sector is an outcome that allows us to get on with our business, which is to make investment decisions and to make operational decisions and to minimize, as far as possible, risks that emanate from the structure and regulation of the sector.  


We understand, of course, there are intrinsic rinks in the generation, transmission, and distribution of electricity, just as there are in any business, but we ought not to amplify those risks with complicated or uncertain or ambiguous law and policy and regulation around the structure and treatment of those kinds of assets.

      So we do support a modified cost-of-service approach, and modified in two ways.  One is that we agree with Board Staff, and others, that now is not the time to embark on a full-blown cost-of-service exercise.  It's expensive, it's time-consuming, and it raises a bunch of questions to which we will be challenged to anticipate the solution.

      Our view is that the existing treatment of these assets provides a viable starting point.  Regulation 53/05 sets out prices for payment amounts for the output of these assets.

      And that payment structure, in combination with the incentives set out in the regulation, are arguably more than adequate to meet OPG's needs for these assets to be financially viable.  


We have questions, of course, whether they're sufficient to promote economic efficiency or whether they are the best incentives to promote economic efficiency, and, of course, our view is that we can do more to protect the interests of consumers.

      And so when we look at the starting point, I think it's important to understand, as we understand, the starting point isn't so much the prices that were set; it is the return on equity that was set from which the prices were calculated.

     Our understanding is - and I think the government has been quite clear on this; the shareholder's been quite clear on this - that the starting point implicit in regulation 53/05 was a 5 percent return on equity for these assets.  And the prices, then, were derived from that starting point.

      So our recommendation to the Board is it don't –- it not assume or presume that the starting point are the prices set out for the output or even the incentive structure, but to look more deeply into where the shareholder itself started in its work with the company, and that was a 5 percent return on equity.

      I mean, explicitly the shareholder felt that that was an appropriate return on equity for these assets, and then the prices were calculated from there.

      The other reason that, in terms of trying to clarify what we stand for as being different from cost of service and different from incentive regulation, and having a bit of both, is we think this is an important opportunity to consider the appropriate role and level and structure of incentives.

      Our concern is that the staff paper moves rather hastily to promoting formulaic approaches to incentive regulation borrowed from other sectors and other jurisdictions, and we observe that even where we have a lot of experience regulating assets in Ontario, in the natural gas sector, in the electricity distribution and transmission sector, we are only moving gradually to performance-based regulation.  The regulation of these assets, these prescribed generation assets, is almost without precedent, in our understanding, here in Ontario and elsewhere.

      So, when we start talking about Z-factors and productivity factors and all these other kinds of things, I think we would worry that if we're trying to be practical and incremental and move forward in a measured way that minimizes risk and perceptions of instability, that we not try to impose on this sector stuff that we haven't really fully tested in other areas where we have a lot more experience and a lot more knowledge.

      As well, I think the question is:  When looking at the memorandum of agreement between OPG and its shareholder, it's pretty clear in that that the company has undertaken obligations in respect of benchmarking its performance, both financial and operational, pursuing efficiency and cost-effectiveness, mitigating financial and operational risk.

      And, of course, this begs the question in my mind that if the shareholder has directed OPG to do this, and OPG has undertaken to do this, why do we need additional financial incentives to get them to do this?  They've been told to do it.  They've said they're going to do it.  And now we're being asked to provide further financial incentives for them to do what they've already said they should do and understand they must do.

      So what we would suggest, I submit to the Board, is that we should look at the incentives that are embedded in

53/05, and I think the Board Staff proposal suggests that we do exactly that.

      We, as you might imagine, do monitor the financial reports of the company, and we do observe that the company is as profitable now as it has been in a long time, and we do conclude, at least in the most recent quarter, that it is earning well above 5 percent return on equity.  Of course, it's complicated, based on the information they provide publicly, to understand how much of that is attributable to the prescribed assets, and to the incentives that are embedded in Regulation 53/05.  But I think it's important, as I suggested -- if rate 53/05 is a starting point, then it's important to understand what is the starting point, and the starting point in our view - and I submit to you - is the return on equity that was pegged by the shareholder.  And then we have to work backwards; out of sense is that the combination of price caps and revenue caps and incentives, and so on, that have been imposed on OPG provide them with an opportunity to earn a more-than-adequate rate of return on invested capital.

      And then, of course, that's speaks to future incentives, and there are others here today who are going speak to the way that the sector might be regulated or could be regulated at some point in the future, consistent with some kind of end state of the future, and all of that's well and fine.

      I think, though, what we're trying to promote here is a practical, incremental, risk-free approach which suggests that in the first iteration we need to set payment amounts for prescribed assets.  There's no obligation on the Board or anybody else to take any kinds of risks or to invent any kind of new regulatory approach to this.  


The question is, going back to the purposes of the Act, is the regulation of these assets sufficient to promote efficiency.  Is any regulation necessary to promote efficiency, given that OPG's been told to and has agreed to do that anyway?  What is the appropriate regulatory approach to maintain the financial viability of the company?  And arguably, the current approach is more than adequate to do so.

      And the question is:  Is the regulation sufficient or does it go as far as possible in protecting consumers?  And

I think we've concluded, in looking at the situation, that more can be done to protect the interest of consumers.  I think we could probably have an expectation coming out of this process of lower prices, payment amounts for these assets that are lower than the ones that we have currently in place, and perhaps an incentive structure that returned more value to customers rather than as retained earnings to the company.

     So those are my comments.  And if there's anything

I've missed, I'd ask Larry or Mark to jump in; otherwise, I'd be happy to take questions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Adam.  We'll take the questions after the last speaker on this topic.  

So the  next speaker is Jay Shepherd from the Schools Energy Coalition.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My name is Jay Shepherd, School Energy

Coalition.  We did not prepare a PowerPoint.  We've filed

written submissions.  


Can you hear me?

     That's where my notes are.  And we've filed material and we're generally in support of the Board Staff proposals.  Whether you call them modified cost of service or whether you call them some form of incentive regulation really doesn't matter.  To our mind, the essence of the Board Staff proposals is that they are traditional and -- they're -- sorry, transitional and they're incremental, and that the key to them is to expand the amount of information that is available and expand the level of transparency so we can start to get a better look at an entity that has not been regulated in the past.


And it seems to us that the plan that's been proposed allows the Board to, in effect, in getting a lot more information, then respond to that information as it arises to see what the most appropriate method is of dealing with things that come up in it. 


If it looks like -- as that information is being filed over the next couple of years, if it looks like OPG is not getting sufficient amounts of money to do the job well, then the Board can respond with a process at that time.


Conversely, if it looks like there may be efficiencies that can be found, the Board can respond to that at that time.  To our mind, it's a very good transitional approach to get to an end state where we do cost of service and incentive regulation, or something like that, once we know a lot more about this entity.


So unless -- we're available for questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  So those three parties or persons, Adam, Jay, and, I guess, Marika or Rusty, are available for questions now.  I guess we can start ourselves.  

Bill?  Any questions?


MR. RUPERT:  Am I on?  Can you hear me?  

Okay.  Adam, I wanted to understand exactly what you think might happen the first time the Board sets these payments, because you said at the beginning that you liked a number of things in the Staff proposal but you don't prescribe to all of it.


So we come around to 2008, say, or whatever year is going to be the first year that rates are set.  How different are the prices going to be under what you proposed, 3.3 and 4.95, with all these variance accounts?  I just want to understand what changes your approach might lead to in the payments in the first year or so.  


It sounds like you're looking for lower payments, as you said at the end.  But is there a process in which new information, new costs, new circumstances get baked into what you would like to do, or do we start at 3.3 and 4.95 and say that's it?


MR. WHITE:  Well, to be clear, I'm not suggesting we start at 3.3 and 4.95.  What I'm suggesting we do is start at 5 percent ROE, rate on equity, and then calculate what price comes out of that based on what we know now that might be different than what we knew before.


I do support what Jay said about expanding information, and that was a point I'd intended to make and overlooked in my presentation.  I think that there is -- an advantage, of course, in a cost-of-service approach is that you have transparency on information about costs and operational parameters, and we don't know very much.  


I mean, from the outside looking in, it's difficult to know very much about the cost structure of these assets and what drives those costs, and I think there's an opportunity here, in a modified cost-of-service approach, as the Board Staff have recommended, to build that information over time, and we need not wait for a complete picture on that for the Board to discharge its duty in the first iteration, which is simply to set payment amounts.


I think that there's an opportunity to revisit the incentives, such as Board Staff has recommended.  In particular, the question about the 1900 MW hours for the hydroelectric assets, it is very difficult for us to back out what that means to OPG.  And in my personal view, it's very difficult to understand why such an incentive would be necessary or desirable, except as a means of boosting revenues to OPG, and I don't think that's the purpose of the exercise here.  


The question is they need a reasonable rate of return that makes them financially viable.  The shareholder has decided that that's 5 percent.  That's good with us.  


Then the question is what the incentive should do.  It shouldn't promote revenue maximization.  They should promote cost minimization.  They should strive efficiency, and the question is whether the existing incentives are sufficient to do that or even appropriate to do that.


So I don't think we're -- perhaps 33 and 49.50 are the ballpark, but I think the numbers might be a little bit lower than that.


MR. RUPERT:  Well, can I follow up?  Because the Staff paper is pretty clear, I think, unless I misread it, that the starting points for these two types of assets are the existing prices, and then there will be some adjustments and modifications where things are laid out with some incentive built in.  


It's starting from dollars per megawatt hour.  It doesn't start from return on equity.  Now, maybe embedded in those dollars per megawatt hour is this 5 percent return on equity, but I just want to make sure.  You're saying 5 percent, but you're not starting from 33 or 49.50.  You're starting from what? 


MR. WHITE:  Well, those numbers were derived from ‑‑ I wasn't privy to this conversation.  Presumably, there's a conversation between OPG, the shareholder, and there was a third party that said, What are your costs and how much do you need to make in excess of your costs as a return to capital?  


And that number was pegged at 5 percent, and then these numbers were derived.  So the question is, now, in this proceeding, if we look at ‑‑ are those prices yielding 5 percent?  

And it's an open question, in my mind, and we expect that this proceeding will answer that question.


If the 33 and the 49.50 are yielding a return on equity that is much in excess of 5 percent, then those are too high, because the starting point is 5 percent.


MS. NOWINA:  How do we determine that without looking at costs?


MR. WHITE:  Well, I think that the approach that the Board Staff has suggested and which we support is let's look at some of those costs, but let's look at those costs over time.


And to go back to the concerns about incentive regulation, if you just bake in some kind of formulaic approach to cost escalation and productivity factors and so on, without having gone through some kind of exercise to understand the costs and benchmarking against appropriate comparators, then, you know, what are we baking in, a sort of escalation type of CPI or something like that?  


Well, I don't think it's necessary and I'm not sure it's desirable, so I think ‑‑ the other question, which is entirely in the purview of the Board, is the term of the payment amounts in the first iteration.  So the question is if we ‑‑ and the argument that the Board Staff makes, which is persuasive to us, is that it's time consuming and expensive to do a cost-of-service exercise.  Let's just set some payments amounts and let's get the ball rolling so that we can do that in future.  


And the question is, you know, how long is it going to take and what do we work towards, and how do we work towards that in a reasonable and cost‑effective way? 

MR. RUPERT:  Let me ask one last quick one, and then we'll turn it over to someone.  These lights aren't good, are they?


So your 5 percent, is that just backward-looking, saying the OPG's made more or less than 5 percent, therefore we should change the payments; or if OPG comes in and says, Our cost for the next two or three years are looking to be this much, and would you then recalculate the return based on the current prices with those new costs and say, That's less than 5 percent, let's give them a little more?


I want to practically understand how your method would work, or is it always -- whether you're looking backwards or forwards, 5 percent return on equity is always the cap and prices should always be adjusted to equal 5 percent return on equity on any data set, past-looking for forward-looking?


MR. WHITE:  I mean, our interpretation of the regulation is that while it fixes payment amounts, that those are derived.  The chief -- the key variable from which all of that is derived is this determination of an appropriate return on equity.


So I guess it comes under a question of practicality and evidence as to how often and on what basis you would adjust it.


We look at the ‑‑ I mean, the information that we have before us now is backward-looking.  It's the financial information that OPG publishes.  Do you have anything to add?


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry.  Could you introduce yourself?  


MR. MURPHY:  Yes.  My name is Larry Murphy.  I'm a consultant to AMPCO.  

Are you getting at, would you re‑examine the basis for the initial set of numbers?  Is that your question?  Or would you just accept them and move on?


MR. RUPERT:  I think ‑‑ Staff can correct me.  I think the Staff position was that we start with those numbers and then make some modifications to those based upon looking at particular issues over time, and so on, but that the numbers would be accepted as a starting point, which I thought was originally the AMPCO position.  And now I'm kind of wondering if that is, in fact, the case.


MR. MURPHY:  We accepted that basic position, the idea being that we have a set of financials that led to the determination of these numbers and we're going to accept that, initially, at least.


But presumably over time, we're going to go back and we'll get additional information to re‑examine each one of the components that led up to the determination of those rates.


That's part of the process of coming up with a better understanding of operational performance and efficiency as we go on over time.  So this would be the start point, and we would take a look at each of the areas that we think need further examination, and that would include, for example, the beginning of benchmarking activities that we would do in each area.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.

     MS. NOWINA:  I have a question for Board Staff.  It, I guess, comes from the discussion with AMPCO, and that is that the Board Staff recommendation is that we start essentially with the payment amounts as they are now and accept the assessment that was done earlier to set those amounts and the ROE on those amounts.

      I guess the important question there is:  How can we be sure that those amounts set some time ago reflect a reasonable return for OPG that it isn't actually significantly higher or lower?  Are we certain that in the future that will make sense?  And then, related to that, you talk about setting the incentive period for one year, which is a very short incentive period, and at the end of that year, what better information will we have to review the incentive -- or review the rates?

     MR. CHUTE:  Well, let's answer the last question first.  I think what we'll discover in the process by which we set the filing guidelines, and the information that the Board will need to inform its decision-making process, will lead to better decision-making for the future and whether or not that term is appropriate.

      It just our recommendation that we look at it as one year, with the -- we had some expectation that there will be new information that may say that their costs have increased or that there are certain regulatory provisions that they have to meet which will incur other costs.

      So we are cognizant that the initial price-setting, which was two years ago -- be three years, I guess, in 2008.  And what we're saying is we'll start from this, and if the information we get from the filing guidelines gives us a basis on which we should change those, then the Board should consider modification.

      Now, maybe I lost track what the previous question was, so if you could reiterate that for me, please.

     MS. NOWINA:  Well, I think you answered the previous question at the same time by, essentially, saying that within a year - is that right - within a year of setting this rate, you think we'll have better information and we'll know whether or not that original assessment was fair, or not, and can go back for another review of the payments if it wasn't?

     MR. CHUTE:  Right.  And Board Staff are recommending that the OPG file on a quarterly basis so that we'll have information to inform any decisions, probably the best information available.

      I think when we characterize this as an incremental approach, I think Board Staff would characterize this as an incremental approach.  Adam's reference to formulas and formulaic is potentially the long-term goal, but to get there, there's a whole lot of information that's going to be needed to be assessed by the Board for the adequacy of revenues and whether a rate of return is being made.

      Recognizing ... we are also aware OPG's financial results have been quite good recently.  That could be a short-term trend, could be a long-term trend.  That's for the corporation as a whole.  And we don't really know from that consolidated information that's provided publicly whether or not that is still the same for the designated assets.

      So our information filing guidelines and whatever we get from them should help inform that as well.

     MS. NOWINA:  Is there a possibility that after a year of quarterly filings we may see enough differential there that we decide that we have to do a cost-of-service proceeding in any case?

     MR. CHUTE:  That's within the Board's prerogative to do so.  I would say it's a possibility.  It could be that that would be a decision that would have to be taken in a year's time.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay.  Thanks.  Who would like to question these folks?

     MR. PENNY: I have a question that relates to the question you asked.  It's Michael Penny speaking.  I have a question that relates -- I don't care whether I go first or not, but I do have a question that somewhat relates to the question that you just asked.

     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Michael.

     MR. PENNY:  All right.  Rusty, it relates -- or are you saying -- sorry, on page 3 of your presentation, it relates to the same question, in a way that Pamela's put, which is bullet point 5, where you say:

"Initial order in effect for minimum of one year, but actual duration set after Board determines suitability of continuing initial payment levels based on OPG data filings."

And I guess the confusion we had was around the sequencing of that and the logic of what the sequence should be.

      So let me just ask this kind of straight out.  I think it flows from that, because if you're proposing to review the suitability of the initial payments at some point, then why wouldn't you address that right off the bat, instead of imposing an IR mechanism that might only be in place for one year?

     MR. CHUTE:  Well, the answer I have for that for the

Board Staff is that the IR mechanism is our long-term basis.  That's what we see as a long-term goal for the methodology.

      And to get there you're going to have to take some steps.  And we recognize that some of those steps will include processes which look like cost of service, but I would not characterize it as a full cost-of-service hearing where we're going to look at the entire spectrum and roster of all costs.  We may select, you know, certain costs to be looked at in one proceeding and use that as a determination.

      This is just what Board Staff would recommend, that we take an incremental approach.  And over a period of time what you might have is a full -- looks like a full examination of cost of service, but it didn't take place in one proceeding with, I'd say, the possibility of it getting dragged out like previous proceedings.  And I hate to bring up the spectre of some other proceedings before the Board from years ago.  I think we have a different Board with a different mandate, with a different business plan.

      But the possibility of getting dragged out into a long, involved process, is real, and Board Staff are cognizant of that and felt that we should take incremental steps and examine certain costs first, move on, and that those could inform decisions by the Board as to whether to modify that current payment level.

     MR. PENNY:  I guess, if I have the supplementary question, it would really just be to say when you're going down these parallel routes of some cost-of-service-like components but also examining the possibility of productivity factors, inflation factors, GDPPIE price input differential, it's more a sequencing question in the logic of what you do first.  What do you see as what's necessary in your incremental model to do first? 

     MR. CHUTE:  Well, Marika and I just had a little discussion about getting a starting point for cost of service.  We've never done this before with OPG, so there is some concern about where do you begin?  We decided we should begin with the initial payment levels.  That's our recommendation.

      Sequencing?  That would be probably, I would say -- when I look at it as an informed staff member, I'd say that you would look at the most important components and the largest components, whether those being, of course, the operational costs, the nuclear, looking at ROE, which applies over both asset segments in that kind of sequencing.

     But that would be a Board decision and be based on the information filings from OPG.  And I think that the criteria would be, you know, that substantive, important, cost components would be the ones you would want to look at first.

     MR. PENNY:  Okay.  Thank you.  

MS. NOWINA:  Jay Shepherd was next.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I just have a question of Board Staff.  As I understand, the filing guidelines are intended to be sort of like cost‑of‑service‑type information, maybe not quite as much, but in that direction.


And so my question is:  Is it your intention right now to include not just historical information, but also forward‑looking information, like business plans, like capital spending plans, things like that, so that the Board and the public, when they're looking at this information, will have a perspective not just on how things are going so far, but whether there are expected changes that will put it off the rails?


MR. CHUTE:  Of course we haven't even started on that process yet.  It will be a consultative process and we'll take viewpoints from interested parties, much like we have for the discussion paper.


But, you know, I think it's a little premature to be speculating but I think the guidelines will be developed with what we can get informed with from OPG.  And if the kinds of information that's coming forward don't seem adequate, the Board can certainly ask for more.


But I would say it's yet to be developed, and if it looks like full‑blown cost of service, you could call it that, but I think there are common elements.  When you're looking at incentive regulation and cost of service, there are certain basic things you need to know.


So the filing guidelines may provide ample information for anybody to make judgments about adequacy of revenues and rates of return.


That would be, I think, the objective of Staff, is as much information as possible.


MR. SHEPHERD:  My supplemental is I'd assume it's correct that you're proposing that this information that's filed be all on the public record, that it not be filed like triple R’s and confidential.


MR. CHUTE:  We're as open as possible at the Board.  Everything is open for the public.  We're subject to FOI.  And there are, you know, the limitations, I'm sure, but the Board's view, and Board Staff view, is as open as possible.


MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to ask a supplemental to Jay's supplemental, because he only got the one.


To be very clear, the quarterly filings, have you considered that they would contain forecast information, as well as historical information?


MR. CHUTE:  I'd say so, yes.  I'd say we're going to be looking forward, but that -- like I said, that's a determination that comes later, and I think that's important.  You can have test years and forecast years.  I think that if you are setting payments that go into the future, it's necessary to know what the view of the future is, both from the proponent, as well as from outsiders and intervenors.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.  

Mike Lyle.


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  Mike Lyle with the OPA.  This is another question for Board Staff.  Rusty, in slide 3 of your presentation, you reference efficiency when speaking of hydroelectric assets and efficiency incentives using "sculpted payments" when referencing nuclear assets.  Can you describe for us the process that you would propose to be used to arrive at a determination of how those incentives would be structured?


MR. CHUTE:  Well, in the Board Staff paper, we recommended that there be some studies done as to what kind of productivity improvements might be necessary.  And I equate productivity improvements with efficiency improvements and that the kinds of incentives contemplated and how you might determine those, I think one of the ways would be looking at comparable facilities, recognizing that there are differences in technology, when you're talking about nuclear, between OPG's nuclear assets and other nuclear assets.


But there are operating commonalities between those kinds of technologies, and when you're talking about the water assets, clearly there was an intention in the regulation to impose some kind of efficiency incentive with the 1900-megawatt hour limit. 


What we are proposing is that the Board examine that.  Is that adequate?  Is it a useful thing or not?  Is it influencing behaviour, the use of those assets, or - and we'll take information from OPG and others on this - whether or not it is just another way to enhance revenues, or if it encourages perverse behaviour.


We don't have a view on that yet, but we think it should be examined.


MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon Fulton also with the OPA, and I'll do Mike's supplemental, if I could.  And, Rusty, it deals with the order of your incremental approach, and where do you start. Are you looking at doing it on an asset-by-asset basis?  For example, you would start with the Hydro assets and do an intensive on it, and look at what incentives would come, keep the nuclear rate at where they were, or are you going to look at it laterally and look at labour costs across all assets?


MR. CHUTE:  Well, speaking for the Staff and not for the Board, I would say we'd probably want to split this by technology.  And we would be looking at, say, the nuclear fleet as one particular issue and the hydraulic fleet as another.


And my recommendation would be that we look at those cost factors which are the most important in terms of percentage of total costs or their impact on the actual prices that would be set.


So I think it's safe to say we'd probably do it on a technology basis, but, you know, we would be open to evidence that says, No, you shouldn't.  You should look at it as total labour cost, or total materials cost, or total capital.


MR. FULTON:  But it's cost efficiency that was sort of [inaudible].


MS. NOWINA:  And it's an extra question, so maybe we'll leave it there, because I saw a number of other hands.  

Richard Stephenson.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  This is for Board Staff.  I want to go back to the regulation.  Given that the regulation prescribes two distinct periods - namely, the period up until the time the Board makes its first order and the period of time after the Board makes its first order - given that situation and given the fact that the Board is required to set rates which are just and reasonable -- or payment amounts, pardon me, that are just and reasonable, doesn't the Board have to have some independent basis upon which it is able to make a determination regarding the justness and reasonableness of the payment amounts that it is setting in its first order?


And, specifically, on what basis can the Board form a conclusion that the original payment amounts were just and reasonable, even at the time they were set, number one; and, secondly, on what basis can the Board reach its own conclusion that those payment amounts are just and reasonable at the time of the first order?


MR. CHUTE:  Legal counsel, do you want to help us here?  I'm not going to try and interpret what "just and reasonable" is.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, and maybe I can just say I assume that the Board is the person that determines what just and reasonable is, and I don't have a pre‑conceived notion of that either, but whatever the Board conceives it to be.


MR. CHUTE:  Yes.  Well, I'd just say that in our presentation, it says that Board Staff assumed that those payments were adequate and that they were determined on -- I agree that it's a bit of a black box, but it was a negotiation between the shareholder and the corporation. 

That's my understanding of how those first level of payments were established and that there was third-party review through the CIBC report on that saying those were adequate and that the ROE of 5 percent was adequate to provide incentives for the corporation.

      Board Staff's view is that that was a reasonable approach and that it was something that was arrived at as a negotiated position.

     What we're saying going into the future, though, that the Board Staff are recommending the Board hold proceedings to establish whether or not costs are being covered and whether the rates of return are what they are or what they should be.

      What we're saying is that we start from this position.  Whether it’s just and reasonable, I think is a moot point.  I would say it's a moot point right now whether it's just and reasonable.

      When the Board does its process and determines, then, under its rules and under the evidence presented to it, it will make a ruling or a justification for setting the rate payment regarding their definition of what's just and reasonable.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  By way of follow-up:  Given the existence of what is clearly a two-stage process set out in the regulation ... as I said before, the period up until the point in time of the Board's first order and the period

thereafter, as I understand it, the Board Staff position is that the first order - that is, the payment amounts on the day after the first order - will be exactly the same as the payment amounts on the day before the first order.

      The regulation seems to establish that the first period of time -- that is, up until the point of the first order -- is an interim period, and it wants the Board to do something at the point in time of the first order.

      Why would the Board simply in its first order continue the interim period, the rules for the interim period, on a go-forward basis?  Why don't we do ... isn't the Board being directed to do now the very thing you suggest that it should be doing after the first order; namely, the collection of the relevant information which allows it to have a better basis to do -- to get toward the end state?

     Why should the Board simply continue the interim status on the day it makes the first order?

     MS. NOWINA:  I think we've got the question.

     MR. CHUTE:  You want me to answer that?  Or you want me to ... I think our recommendation is quite clear.  We think that those -- the Board will in its first order, we're recommending that you stay with the initial payments and then you establish whether or not those payments should change.

      And I agree with you, the regulation says there are certain things that can be examined prior to the first order and should be accepted as given, and that after the first order, my interpretation of the Regulation is that a lot more things are open to investigation.

     MS. NOWINA:  Stay with the initial payments.  Will there not be adjustments for the deferral accounts and things like that in that first order?  So it won't be exactly the same payment?

     MR. CHUTE:  It's always -- we must abide by the regulation, must abide by the statute, and the Regulation says you must make provision for recovery of the variance accounts and the deferral account.  And yes, of course, that would be part of it.

     MS. HARE:  And there would be an adjustment for inflation and a productivity factor yet to be determined. 

But I think, as Rusty had explained previously, what we're trying to do is get to an appropriate starting point to be able to do a cost of service, and we don't think we're there yet.

      So what we're suggesting is in the interim that we adjust the payment amounts based on inflation and productivity and take into account the variance and deferral accounts, and then, over time, build up the base of information needed to do a thorough cost-of-service examination.

     MS. NOWINA:  Next question?  Tom Adams.

     MR. ADAMS:  My question is for AMPCO and SEC, and I'll suggest to you that it was only just in the last few moments that we've had an admission from Board Staff that prospective business information would be entered into this process of any kind.

      If you look in all of the filings we've seen from

Board Staff so far, I don't think that there's been any commitment to prospective information at any point.

      Now, you've both made -- both SEC and AMPCO have expressed their support for transparency of information, and also expressed some interest in a cost-based approach, cost-based analysis.  But if we look at the Board Staff appendix A from their discussion paper in July that sets out the time lines for the process going out over the next several years, we look to that chart and there's no indication that at any point Board Staff is contemplating a cost-based analysis that includes prospective information.

      So my question to you is:  Is a purely retrospective approach, as appeared to have been set out in the previous statements of Board Staff, good enough for your clients?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, Schools Energy Coalition. 

I can answer that.  I never thought that the information that was going to be filed and available would be purely retrospective.  My understanding from the outset has been that it would be cost-of-service-like, and the closer it got to cost of service, the happier we would be, and the only difference would be you can file all the cost-of-service information and then have a hearing or you can file all the cost of service and let everybody look at it and then do nothing about it.

     And what we thought was happening was the latter, and so that we would, as Marika said, build up a base of information both retrospective and prospective.  Then when the first proper cost-of-service application took place, we'd have an archive of history.  That's why we thought it was a good idea.

      And along the way, as this information was filed, if things looked weird in it, if it looked like costs were out of line for a particular facility, for example, or in a particular cost category, the Board could respond by having a hearing on that point.

     MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a supplemental, Tom?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.

     MR. WHITE:  Adam White, from AMPCO.

     MR. ADAMS:  I want to hear from Adam.

     MR. WHITE:  So, Tom, I'm sure you know, and I'm sure you would agree, that in this sector for a long time we've not done a particularly good job of predicting the future 

... well, except that, you know, what's past is prologue.  We are now, again, doing demand forecasting and integrating power system planning that is quite familiar to some of us that have been around long enough, because we've done it before, and we were egregiously wrong then; right?

     So the question is, of course, forward-looking information is useful, but it also comes with uncertainty.

      I look at this memorandum of agreement between the shareholder and the corporation, and, in fact, OPG -- and I don't know, because I haven't checked -- but it seems to me that they should already be reporting to their shareholder three- to five-year investment plans for new projects, performance targets that are benchmarked, and there’s any number of different kinds of reports that they undertake to provide to the shareholder and to the Ministry of Finance, and so on and so on.

      I think we should reasonably expect in this process that they will provide forward-looking information.  But in my practical approach to this, I think the information that we can have some certainty in the information related to what we have done and what has been done, and I'm less sure of information about what might be done.

     MS. NOWINA:  Marika wants to respond to this question, as well.

     MS. HARE:  Because, Tom, you prefaced your question with saying that for the first time Staff has admitted that they're looking at prospective information.  I think what Rusty was careful to say, that we hadn't really turned our mind to the type of information that would be required and that would be developed in consultation with all parties and, in particular, with OPG.  


We need to know what's possible, as well, but certainly the idea of forward‑looking information seems to make sense to us.


But we haven't developed fully how we'd ask for that information, whether by business line, what's possible.  But the idea of forward‑looking is in the realm of cost‑of‑service-type information, and that's what we're suggesting.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have a supplemental question, Tom?


MR. ADAMS:  No.


MS. NOWINA:  Who else would like to ask questions of this group?  Sorry.


MR. HARPER:  My name is Bill Harper.  I'm a consultant with VECC.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MR. HARPER:  Actually, I think my question may have been answered, but I want to make absolutely certain that I understand, because it has to do with exactly what the Board Staff's proposal is over the first few years.  And reading through the paper, it was my understanding that we would start with an initial payment, set at the initial payment level, there would be an incentive regulation that could be used and applied to that.  What would be an unknown period of time, while information was collected subsequently; there would be some form of cost‑of‑service review once sufficient information had been gathered.


So in the earlier comments you made, Rusty, you seemed to suggest that during that initial period, you would be actually looking at individual issues and perhaps adjusting the individual payment or updating the initial base payment to sort of maybe a more realistic reflection of costs as you had more information of costs, so that it wouldn't really be an incentive regulation mechanism.  It would be something different than that, because you would be changing the base, but based on almost any cost-of-service reviews on individual issues over that period.


I just wanted to understand which of those two models it is that you're proposing.


MR. CHUTE:  Well, I think in one of the previous answers, Marika and I had both said that the Staff recommendation is that start at the initial payments, and we look at information that may provide us with the ability to apply productivity factors, as well as cost inflation factors, recognizing that the initial payment is a little long in the tooth now that there may be significant cost information that should be applied, and that we would do that as part of the first order and have a look at whether or not there should be an adjustment.


What we're doing is starting with that initial payment as sort of, like, Okay, here's the basis.  We're going to look at some of the other things that may make a difference, really make a difference, in terms of cost recovery.


MR. HARPER:  So just as a supplemental to that, to be perfectly clear - and I think this even goes back to some of the initial discussions that were started right at the beginning - was that the initial order, in your mind, could actually see OPG coming in and saying, Yes, those are the assumptions that underlay the initial sort of payment scheme, but there's been some fundamental changes, and, on the basis of that, we want certain adjustments and other parties may suggest certain adjustments down.  We want certain specific adjustments to the initial payment before we start applying the incentive scheme for a period of time?


MR. CHUTE:  No, I don't think so.  I think what we're looking at is starting with the initial payments.  There's a possibility that there could be some changes as a result.  If you look at the formulaic approach that we've put in there, there is a contemplating of things like Z‑factors and other incremental or decremental pieces that could be added to that.  But that's going to be informed by the information we get in the filing guidelines, which everybody's going to be a party to.  


So I would say that we're not going to go around and do this on the basis of picking out one thing or another thing.  We'll look at a comprehensive filing, and the Board will make a determination on what's material, I think, based on that.  Good bureaucratic answer.


MR. RUPERT:  Could I ask a quick question for all three groups, a quick question and, I think, a quick answer?  

Regulation 53/05 has these five variances accounts set out that have been operational.  Some have more or less in them now already.  And the company is directed to include monies in there in respect of difference in water conditions, nuclear, electric production problems, and so on, you know, the variance accounts.


Under your three views of how this works, do those five variance accounts continue to operate after the Board's first order in the kind of scheme that you would like?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.  Yes.


MR. WHITE:  Well, the short answer:  I don't know.  I think it depends.  Typically you don't hold the company accountable for acts of God, but, at the same time, I think we would want to look at that, Bill.


MS. NOWINA:  That was Adam White from AMPCO.


MR. CHUTE:  I think, yes, the variance accounts would continue.  There would be provision under the Regulation to clear the account, as it were, and we would provide for that.  You have to abide by the Regulation, but I think that they do have a life beyond the first order.


MS. NOWINA:  I'll take one more question for this group.  Yes, sorry.


MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy.  In all the cases, all the approaches that have been discussed here, there seems to me always to be the problem of how do you make sense of the numbers that you get from any of these approaches?  So if you had a cost-of-service approach, you get all the numbers, how do you assess whether that's a reasonable number or not, given Randy's, or the Staff's, comments on tendencies to exaggerate costs by the regulated entity, by asymmetrical access to information, all of these problems?


In the case of starting with the numbers that we have, are they reasonable or not, or going to some form of incentive regulation?


In all these cases, it seems to me you need to have standards.  You have to have some kind of benchmark.  And I guess my question is directed to Randy.  When you were talking about ‑‑ or Rusty, sorry.  That seems to be common.  I'm picking out the ...


MR. CHUTE:  I could make a joke; I won't.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  The question gets directed to you eventually, and that is, you've mentioned that you're going to take a look at specific areas of costs, like nuclear.  Is that just a matter of looking at the nuclear costs in some detail, or are you going to get into benchmarking nuclear costs of OPG compared to others?  


And in the memorandum, it's spelled out how they're going to do the benchmarking.  They're directed to benchmark against other CANDUs, but other types of nuclear operations throughout North America, that sort of thing?


Is it your intention to incorporate benchmarking into your analysis of each of these areas?


MR. CHUTE:  We addressed that in the report, and I think that would be an appropriate methodology to be examined.  I think there are pros and cons to that, but, you know, the Board -- I agree that from the Board Staff's viewpoint, that we need some view as to whether the information we get in the cost filing is appropriate, is within a reasonable application or within a reasonable amount, if we're talking about specific amounts.  


And how are you going to do that?  Well, I think you have to make comparisons.


And, mind you, you know, it's like comparing the attributes of one vehicle against another one.  There's trade‑offs.  Some are Cadillacs and some are Hondas.


MR. MURPHY:  But commercial companies do this all the time, and they know that their operation is not identical to another.  They make modifications to the metrics they use, but they're in competition with these people, so they have to find some way of finding out how well they're doing relative to the others.  So ‑‑


MR. CHUTE:  And I think in our report we specifically say we'd commission studies on that.  And I'm being shown something, "Basis of benchmarking studies," and that the Board commissioned its own study for that purpose.


So we're contemplating a process by which we'll be informed through a benchmarking comparative process.


MS. HARE:  That's under recommendation G on page 22.


MS. NOWINA:  And that was your supplemental question.


MR. MURPHY:  Perhaps that can be done in cooperation or conjunction with the internal work that is being done at OPG to fulfill the mandate under the memorandum.  That makes sense.


MR. CHUTE:  I think the Board would be interested in an efficient process.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay, thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  That completes this section.  We'll take our morning break now and return at ten minutes to 11:00.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 10:34 a.m. 
     --- On resuming at 10:56 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Are we all back together now? 

Can I have your attention for a moment.

      I just want to deal with an administrative matter.  I notice on this afternoon's agenda at 1:30, when we go to regulatory contracts, it was our expectation there would be one presenter for the party supporting regulatory contracts before the OPA.  And we now understand that there are two presenters.  

Is that right, Rob?  Sandy?

     MR. POWER:  Yes.

     MS. O’CONNOR:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  What I would ask you to do, then:  We had assumed 15 minutes for each of those presenters, so if the two of you combined could take no more than 15 minutes, that would allow for adequate questions.  I just want to give you that heads-up ...


 All right.  Any other matters that anybody wants to discuss before we go into the next presentation?

      The next presentation for cost of service is

Richard Stephenson, representing PWU.     


PRESENTATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, and good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers

Union, and this morning I am going to make the presentation on behalf of the so-called cost-of-service group.

      And for your information, that group includes the CCC, VECC, Energy Probe, and Hydro One, as well as the Power Workers, and we have together drafted and filed a presentation with the Board.  It is a lengthy -- well, relatively lengthy document.  It's 28 pages long.  I don't have a PowerPoint for you this morning and I am not going to review the totality of that presentation with you today, but I am going to try to touch on a number of what we consider to be the highlights.

      Let me just say this:  The cost-of-service group is a diverse group of participants, and there historically have not been many issues upon which this particular group has had any common ground.  But we did achieve a common interest on this particular issue, and for what it's worth, it was relatively easy.

     I think the Board can take some element of comfort from the diversity of this particular group, because it does represent a significant range of interests, and that is something the Board might consider.

      We have actually done what the Board asked people to do in the sense of we did get together.  We did provide a common response.  And we have actually answered or attempted to answer all of the questions that were put forward to each of the groups both specifically and generically.

      I don't this morning intend the go through the answers to the questions that were posed on a one-by-one basis, or perhaps at all, subject to questions that are asked, but it is in the materials.  We have attempted to ask all of the questions that were put to our group.

      Let me start where we started, which is in the identification of what we consider to be the guiding principles for both our group and ultimately for the Board in determining what it considers to be the appropriate payment levels.

      And that is identified at page 4 of our presentation material.  And we identified six guiding principles at the outset that we used to govern ourselves.  And the first was consistent with the government's objectives; secondly, consistent with the OEB's objectives; thirdly, consistent with Regulation 53/05; fourthly, a transparent mechanism; fifthly, a flexible mechanism; and, sixthly, a logical mechanism, which is a grab-bag to essentially discuss issues about achievability and that sort of thing, things that can be actually done in a way which is timely and can be done within a reasonable expenditure of resources.  So those were our principles.  

And frankly, once we had identified what we considered to be the relevant guiding principles, we considered our task to be a relatively easy one.  In fact, we considered that we were and ultimately the Board will be inevitably driven to the conclusion that we reached, which was that the cost-of-service approach is the appropriate approach to be taken here.

      And at the end of having reviewed all of the various submissions, from my own perspective, it seems to me that ultimately there really isn't much dispute about the importance of cost of service in this process.  Virtually everyone concedes that some aspect of cost of service has to be done.  There are differences between when it is done and there are differences in the sense of how it is done, and there are differences in the sense of what is done after it is done.

      But there is virtually no dissent from the perspective that it is to be done.  To the extent there is an outlier on that issue, it's arguably Board Staff, although they have allowed cost-of-service elements to creep back into their proposal, as in our view they inevitably must, because at the end of the day that's how the Board can get an information base upon which it will exercise its jurisdiction.

      We say that the fundamental flaw of the Board Staff proposal is in having the Board attempt to exercise its regulatory jurisdiction at all prior to having engaged in some form of cost-of-service possess.  And that was one of the questions that was asked this morning is:  The day after your first order, the Board's first order, will it be the existing numbers or will it be some different number?

     And the answer, as I understand it, on the day after, according to the Board Staff proposal, it is going to be exactly the same as it is today.  They move around from that over time, but on the day after the Board order goes into effect, those numbers will be exactly the same as they are today, as we understand it.

      And we say not only is that not the optimal, or even a good regulatory practice; we also say that that may not be consistent with either the Government's objectives or the Board's statutory obligations.

      Let me take you back to the principles for a moment, and this is where I want to spend most of my time, because at the end of the day, I say, once you get the principles right, the outcome follows logically.

      And the starting point, from our perspective - and it's not that much different than AMPCO, frankly - is that the government has said loud and clear that it is important that the public see and receive the true cost of power.  And they've said that on a number of occasions.

      Secondly, that these are heritage assets.  And to be clear, I think that concept needs to get explained a little bit.  I think that what heritage assets is understood to mean - but to be explicit about it - is that these have obviously been around for a long time, but these were assets that were bought and paid for historically by the public of Ontario, the energy-consuming public of Ontario, over the long period of time.  They have certain attributes, and that the public should get benefit of those attributes.

      And the attributes are essentially that they have low operating costs and that they tend to be the base load assets.  

Another government objective that flows from that is the fact that we say the purpose of the prescription of the assets was to, (a), give people the benefit of these low‑cost power from these heritage assets, and (b), provide a buffer or a hedge against the prospect of higher and volatile electricity costs in the years ahead that may arise from other forms of production and new additions.  Those are perceived to be higher cost and likely more volatile, and this is a hedge.


So these are heritage assets.  The costs, the true costs, are, we say, at page 5, reflected by the historical cost of these assets.  The government has talked about "stable and predictable prices."  So that's the government's objectives, we say.


But there's an additional objective, which is that ultimately the responsibility for setting these payment levels is going to be set by the Energy Board, not by the government.  It's going to be an arm's‑length exercise.  And having the Energy Board set these prices comes with it, I think, a bundle of expectations.


Number one, it will be obviously governed by the Energy Board's statutory objectives vis-a-vis electricity, matters dealing with electricity.


Secondly, it will be subject to a transparent, independent, objective, adjudicative process, ultimately, of some form; and that all of the expectations statutorily in the OEB will be taken into account and that the ultimate outcome of that process will be a payment level which is determined by the Board to be just and reasonable by the Board, based upon the evidence that it, the Board, has assessed to make that determination.


Obviously, there's the OEB statutory objectives, which you're well aware of; I won't repeat.  But we say they're all consistent with cost of service.


Consistency with the regulation, we say, is also a critical element of this, and I want to come back to a point that I asked a question about this morning.  

Embedded in the regulatory scheme of 53/05 is the notion that there are two distinct periods of time.  There is the period of time up until the point in time of the Board's first order, and I hasten to say the Board is not required to make its first order on any particular date.  There is no magic in March 31st, '08.  


In theory, the Board could make its first order 15 years from now.  I don't think that anybody would be very happy about that, but the Board has no statutory obligation to make an order at any point in time.


And the Act is very clear what the consequences of that are, is that the current payment levels remain in place until the Board makes its first order.


But there is that first period of time, and it is clear, we say, that that first period of time is understood to be interim and transitional.  In other words, I don't think we can make any assumptions regarding whether or not the numbers that were achieved out of that process are just and reasonable as the Board would have found them if they had been asked the question three years ago.  


They were set for any number of reasons by the government.  I don't need to remind you that the government set commodity prices for electricity for the purposes of LDC rates a number of years ago, and those were ‑‑ that was the government's view of what the appropriate number was.  


There was no assurance whatsoever at the time.  Nobody made any suggestion that that was a number that the Board would have considered to be just and reasonable if the Board had been asked.  It wasn't asked, but the mere fact that the Government has established payment levels on a basis known only to it is no assurance that it would have been, even at the time, just and reasonable if the Board had been asked to undertake that task.


The second aspect of it ‑‑ so that it's, as I say, interim, transitional.  

Moreover, the Board has been -- there are certain specific things that are clearly embedded in those interim and transitional rates.  Some of those aspects have been -- arguably, will carry on into the second period.  None of them appear to be mandated.  


For example, there was a question this morning about there are five deferral accounts that are stipulated, about acts of God and whatnot, and the question was asked:  Would those continue to be deferral accounts in the period after the Board makes the first order?


And I think the answer to that is, of course, that's a decision for the Board to make.  It's obviously not required to accept them as deferral accounts.  There's nothing in the Regulation which says that.  They may or may not be appropriate deferral accounts in accordance with the Board's assessment of just and reasonable rates, and the Board can hear submissions on that point.  


It's up to OPG at the end of the day to make its case about what the appropriate deferral accounts are, but there's nothing that says that that's the appropriate thing.  And the Board clearly, appropriately, within the exercise of its jurisdiction, could choose to accept all of them, some of them, or none of them.


We heard this morning from AMPCO, which says that the key to setting any future rates is the 5 percent ROE.  Well, the regulation is very specific about things that the Board must do vis-a-vis its rate orders, and it's the items contained at section 6 of the Regulation.  And there's a long list of items, some of which are applicable only to the first order and some of which are applicable to all orders, but they're very specific.


And, notably, one of the items that is not on the list is the 5 percent return on equity.  And if the legislature or -- in this case, it's a regulation.  If the government has intended that 5 percent was the appropriate rate of return, it could have said so.  

In my submission, the absence of it is a clear indication to the Board that it is the Board's task, at the end of the day, to determine what is an appropriate return on equity.


You have to remember, of course, if the government decides that the Board's determination of what the appropriate return on equity is is wrong, in the sense of, Oh, that's not what we meant, the government, of course always has the authority to issue a regulation that says that, notwithstanding what the Board says, the return on equity is going to be the prescribed number.


But there's nothing that the Board can take from the regulation to say that 5 percent is the right number.


At its absolute highest, all the Board can take is that somebody, through a process we don't know anything about, about which we have no evidence whatsoever and about which we cannot take administrative notice, somebody thought it was the appropriate number for an interim solution.


So that's the key, is that the first part of this regulation is about an interim.  You have to deal with things that are about the future, and then ‑‑ so that's the key, from our perspective.


We say look to the future, and the interim is the interim.


We then talk about, in our other guiding principles, some things which are not directly derived from the statute but are generally understood to be known in terms of the Board's regulatory authority and are clearly kinds of things that are in the public interest.

      And the first and foremost of that is transparency. 

And that is, in terms of establishing just and reasonable rates, we say that obviously the Board has to have an evidentiary basis before it that it can satisfy itself that applying whatever metrics it is going to apply in terms of just and reasonableness that standard has been met.

      But it's important for any administrative tribunal, in the exercise of its authority, to have a process which is legitimate and credible with the public.  And you've got all of your statutory and administrative law responsibilities.  And so the public acceptability, both as represented by various stakeholder groups here and more generally, requires you to have a process which is transparent.

      And manifestly - and I think everybody agrees - that the current system was not transparent.  In a world where it's interim and transitional, we can forgive a lack of transparency.  But going forward, frankly, in our submission, you cannot forgive a lack of transparency.      
You need flexibility, we say, and we say that that's something that can respond both to changing circumstances of OPG, on the one hand, and flexibility in terms of the 

Board's resources and, we say, cost of service, can achieve that.

      Obviously the Board Staff proposal in terms of its incentive regulation contains things like off-ramps and

Z-factors and all that stuff, and there may be a place for that somewhere down the line, but we say embedded in traditional cost of service is a notion of flexibility to respond to changing circumstances.

      And let me just finally go to doability, for example, as a last issue.  The Board Staff has clearly indicated that if the Board is of the view that cost of service is the appropriate way to go, that it is, in fact, doable.  It's achievable within a reasonable time frame.

      And frankly, given the absence of any deadline, statutory or otherwise, on the Board to actually make its first order, it's, frankly, impossible to say that cost of service is not doable.  We are very flexible from our perspective in terms of all the mechanics and what is done when, and whether it's staged or not staged, and I don't think we have a dogmatic view about when the first order should be.  But our basic bottom-line position is you've got to get it right.  And there's only one real way to get it right, and that's cost of service.

      I don't think there's any consensus amongst our particular group, and there's certainly no dogmatic view about what the theoretically optimal ultimate regulatory model might be in the sense of five years, eight years, down the line, but what we do say is the first step is cost of service.

      Let me just talk about cost of service compared to, for example, incentive regulation, for a moment.  And again, I don't say there's any consensus or dogmatic view that once you would properly do cost of service, that some form of incentive regulation might be applied somewhere down the line, but the Board Staff proposal has it being imposed from day one.

      The problem, of course, with doing that -- well, there are numerous ones.  But the first one is, of course that you've got to have some confidence that the base that you are applying the incentives to is an appropriate base, because in the absence of that assurance, you don't even know what your incentivising.  You may be, in fact -- the incentives may be entirely perverse.  If, in fact, there is revenue inadequacy at the moment -- and I don't say there is revenue inadequacy; I have no idea, and neither does anybody in this room at all, perhaps with the exception of OPG.  But certainly the Board has no evidence, no basis whatsoever to conclude that there is revenue adequacy.  All we have is OPG's consolidated financial results.  We have no idea whether the prescribed assets are being compensated in a fashion which is recouping their costs or are not.  Maybe they're recouping well in excess or maybe recouping well under excess.  We have no idea.  All we know is the global numbers.

      So if there is revenue inadequacy, then applying some kind of an efficiency mechanism which requires you to strip costs out is not fulfilling the Board's statutory objective, because it will result inevitably in financial sustainability being jeopardized and, arguably, reliability issues being jeopardized.

      So we don't accept whatsoever that an incentive regulation model is appropriate in a world where you have no confidence that the base to which you are applying those incentives is not a just and reasonable base.

      The additional issue, frankly, is this.  And this is applicable both with respect to incentive regulation and with respect to the regulatory contracts.  And I want to echo, I think, what Mr. White said this morning, is that this is a pretty new concept for a Board in terms of regulating this particular bundle of assets.  And I do think it's important to recall the Board, of course, has looked at these assets before.  They've looked at them many, many times.  They haven't exercised binding regulatory authority over them, but of course, during the Ontario Hydro HR process, they did 24 reviews of Ontario Hydro, which included these assets.  Maybe not Darlington, but certainly everything else.

     Now, it was some time ago, but let's not get carried away.  This is not something that's never happened before, and all it takes is a trip to the library to see it.

      Now, but nevertheless, it is something which is different.  And the message that is being sent out, we say, the Government is that what we want here ... these assets are a safe harbour for the consuming public.  They are a basis for stability for the consuming public.  These are something -- these are the cherished crown jewels that, in a world of uncertainty in terms of electricity pricing, this is the one thing you can hang on to. 


And as Mr. White said this morning, a lot of the incentive regulation concepts and certainly a lot of the regulatory concepts, are, frankly, in an element of infancy.  They're certainly untested generally by the Board.  They've got some experience but not an enormous amount of them, and there's lots of bugs the Board has found.

      And so we say, Why in God's name would you introduce a level of -- additional layer of novelty and uncertainty to the pricing of these assets when you're already in a relatively novel area and the goal is trying to maintain stability?

     So that's another separate and distinct issue about why there's, in our view, merit in cost of service.  It's the tried-and-true method for this regulator and economic regulators across North America, in terms of dealing with this kind of pricing.

      I do want to address one other issue about this, and it ties in with the novelty issue, and that is, the Board Staff has said that, Well, one of the reasons why cost of service may be problematic is that we don't have a track record.  And as a result of that, I guess that makes it, (a), a little more difficult, and (b), makes the outcome less certain to be optimal.  I guess that's the argument.


And let me just say this:  There is some truth in that, but the same is true of every other model.  That doesn't -- from our perspective, that's not a reason for throwing up your hands and saying, Well, we can't do it.  There's no point in even making the effort, and let's not do it at all.


But there's a second perspective, that insofar as that is a challenge - and nobody denies that it's a challenge - it is not a challenge which is manifestly different, either in kind or in scope, to the challenges that this Board has already dealt with successfully in the last ‑‑ in the recent history.  And the most obvious example of that is the Board's first-rate orders vis-a-vis Hydro One.  


You always have to start somewhere, and back in 19 ...


MR. HARPER:  '99.


MR. STEPHENSON:  '98/'99.  I was there.  Mr. Harper was there.  There was a whole bunch of people that were there, and the Board took ‑‑ not only did they have to take Hydro One out of Ontario Hydro; they then had to tear it apart into two halves and come up with numbers for each of them.  With ‑‑ these are entirely brand new businesses, with no ‑‑ certainly no more track history than this one.


And I just bring up two other examples, which may be smaller in scope but nevertheless equivalent in nature, arguably even more difficult, was:  Of course, the Board has imposed rates for both the IESO and for the OPA, which were constructed out of whole cloth.  There was absolutely no track record whatsoever.  And the Board didn't say, Well, it's impossible, I'm sorry, we can't go ahead.  The Board did its task, or more or less, to everybody's satisfaction.  


So from our perspective, the newness of this enterprise is no reason not to do it; and, in fact, to the contrary, it's the very reason why cost of service is required, because it gives you the tools to give you the information, to give you the satisfaction that you've actually satisfied your statutory mandate that this is just and reasonable.


I don't sit here today telling the Board what standards or metrics it is going to apply when it makes its assessment of whether something is just and reasonable or not.  Ultimately, that's a matter for the hearing of this matter.  It's a matter for the Board to decide.  


But whatever metrics or standards the Board applies in assessing justness and reasonableness, it must have a body of evidence against which it is going to measure those standards.  Sorry, the other way around, measure the evidence against those standards.  And only cost of service can do that.


Once you've got cost of service in place, as I say, there's a lot of places you can go, but you've got to get  -- you can't build a house without building a foundation, and the foundation to any future regulatory model is doing the cost of service.  It's getting it right.


Those are my submissions on behalf of the group.  And in terms of questions, from our perspective, I am not nominated as the person to answer all questions, and it may be that they're appropriately aimed at an individual, and certainly you can expect to hear from different individuals in terms of responding to any particular question.


Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I'm going to ask the first question, Richard, because it's a follow‑on to where you just were.


The arguments against cost of service, I think, come down to two:  One is the cost and the length of the hearing, and the second is the one that you just addressed, the lack of an adequate base to base a cost-of-service analysis on.  So you've just addressed the second.


Can you address first the problem with the cost and the length of the hearing?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, let me talk about the length of the hearing first.  In my view, that's a non‑issue for two reasons -- or let me try three reasons.


The first one is the Board Staff has told us that, on its assessment, it's doable.  And I don't have any ‑‑ they're in a good position to know the answer to that, in my submission, and we can take some comfort from that.


The second reason is because, of course, there is no finish line in terms of when -- there's no drop‑dead date when the Board has to issue the order.  So the Board can structure a schedule which it is comfortable with.


And, lastly, it seems to me that the Board has experience and could very well, if it sees fit, structure a cost‑of‑service review so that different bites of the apple are dealt with in different years.


So, for example, with respect to LDC regulation, I know they're doing cost -- that's a separate issue from prior ones.  And so staging these things is not unknown.  And there's obviously prioritization that can be done.  


Frankly, that's implicit in a lot of things that the Board has said ‑‑ sorry, the Board Staff has said that they're going to identify certain cost areas and things like that, and there's nothing fundamentally wrong with that, except that we say, at the end of the day, you've really got to do the full job, because trying to identify cost areas that you're going to look at results in some dangerous cherry-picking, from our perspective.


We say a full cost of service, maybe not all in year one.  It may be staged.  But we think that's doable.


Now, cost, I'm not in a particularly good position to speak to the costs.  I mean, obviously longer is more expensive.  But there's always opportunity costs in this.  You know, the question, it becomes:  Is the cost of getting it wrong higher than the cost of getting it right?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There's only one pocket at the end of the day, and, if you're getting it wrong, it's coming out of their pocket too.


MS. NOWINA:  Thanks.


MR. RUPERT:  A couple of questions, I guess spurred by the background that you've painted here on why we're doing this.


I think I would characterize your proposal as, more or less, I'll call it, a conventional cost‑of‑service hearing process, and so on.


But it strikes me that it's probably fair to say this is a unique circumstance.  First of all, I haven't heard any jurisdiction in the world yet that's classified nuclear assets as heritage assets.  That makes us quite unique, I believe. 


Secondly, we're being asked to regulate something that's not an actual monopoly.  I don't think anybody would say that generation is a monopoly.  It's not.  So that distinguishes it, it seems to me, from pipelines, distribution systems and wires on poles.  


We do have a functioning market, although people have different views on that, I appreciate, but the fact is a number of generators today get paid out of that market.  The OPA has contracts that are linked to that market, so it exists.  So it's not as if we're in a natural monopoly with no competition.  We know what the market is.  Whether you think the market is great or not is another story.  


These assets, I think everyone said, don't even set the market price today.  They're based on assets, and so on.


We have a number of other unregulated players in Ontario that have these same type of assets, water and even -- although the Bruce situation, I can't speak to now, with the new contracted floor prices.  The fact is there are nuclear plants and hydro plants that get paid the market price.  


I don't think there's any obligation for OPG here, the same way there's an obligation to serve as there is for a pipeline or wires.


So my point in going through that is to say does some of that ‑‑ should some of that influence even how one applies the cost-of-service model to this unique situation?  

Let me ask you two specific questions, then.  One goes back to these variance accounts that you said we could accept or ignore as we see fit.  And I guess I'm not a lawyer, so we can discuss later and decide how much those things could be ignored or not.


But some people want those types of things in.  I believe OPG has advocated that.  And given the circumstances that they have, since they're not a gas distributor with an obligation to serve and a natural monopoly, to what extent should the Board be looking at variance accounts, for example, protect them against weather?  I'm not aware that Brookfield power is protected against weather, for example. 


To what extent should acts of God or technology changes give them protection?  Other people have that.  So that is the first question, is:  To what extent should the fact that we do have other plays outside out there in a market that are not regulated influence the degree to which we give this company protection against those kinds of risks?

     MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm going to lateral that one.

     MR. HARPER:  Yeah, maybe I can respond to that maybe by just starting the premise --

     MS. NOWINA:  Can you say your name?

     MR. HARPER:  Sorry, my name is Bill Harper.  Again, I'm a consultant with VECC.  The premise that these sorts of accounts give protection to the company, and I think the sorts of variance accounts frequently can give protection to both the company and to consumers.  

And an example of that:  You talk about whether would hydraulic flows, let's say; you know, there are different levels of hydraulic flows at different years.  We know that hydraulic production is not going to be the average; it's going to be greater or less.  And we can say that in some years, they're going to benefit; in some years, they're going to lose on that.  


You can say, Why shouldn’t you have a variance account that on average means that's out?  Putting it bluntly, there are heritage assets in British Columbia that are regulated, hydraulic assets.  They, too, have a similar variance account whereby there's an expected average flow and variances over that are puts and takes into a variance account that is managed, so neither the company nor consumers are hurt or hindered by sort of acts of God or variance in nature. 


So I don't think that variance accounts are always necessarily in the company's interest, and I don't think they necessarily have to be precluded just because we're in the situation we’re in right in here.  I think it's something that's going to have to be considered by the Board, as Mr. Stephenson said, during the court of the first rate order, in terms of which of those are appropriate.  

In deciding which of those are appropriate, you can take into account the market conditions, the market circumstances, and the type of market structure we have here in Ontario right now.

     MR. RUPERT:  So your view would be, then, I think your group, putting the two pieces together, that the Board would start a cost-of-service process under your model with a clean slate as with respect to deferral and variance account -- starting with nothing, until such time as it's proven to us that there's reason to have it.

     MR. HARPER:  Obviously, together with the fact that you obviously have to deal with the disposition of the existing variance accounts and deferral accounts that were put in place in the past.  But going forward, I'm not lawyer but I think as Mr. Stephenson said, there's nothing in the Regulation that says these specific ones have to continue.  I think that's a determination the Board would have to make.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Sorry, just as an add-on to that:  The one exception to that, of course, is that within the regulation itself, there are specific variance accounts which are required to be continued after the first rate order.

     MR. RUPERT:  I apologize, yes.  That's my question.  

That's my question, that I thought you were saying earlier that there was no obligation on the Board to continue those accounts.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  No, those are the section 5 deferral accounts.  There's section 5 deferral accounts and section 6 deferral accounts.  And the question this morning was about the section 5 deferral accounts.

     MR. RUPERT:  They're one and the same, I think.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  They're not.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  The Regulation is very specific.

     MR. RUPERT:  We can talk about that off-line.  I think section 6 refers back to 5, but, okay, I think I get a sense of your position.

      One other thing on cost of service, and I think, as I say, the unique circumstance we're dealing with is it's supposedly possible -- and OPG may dispute this as being a realistic scenario -- it's possible under the cost-of-service model to go through the whole process and, even if the company is earning a skimpy rate of return, find out in some period, and perhaps even over extended periods, the cost, the payment amount that results from that, is in excess of what other people in the market are getting.  I'm not saying it's likely, but it could happen.  It happens in certain hours now.

     Now, if that happened over a protracted period, would you still be of the view that the cost of service determined under a Board proceeding that gives a payment amount in excess of what the company would otherwise have earned in the market is, (a), the true cost of power and is just and reasonable; i.e., should be -- have no cognizance of the prices that unregulated generators are receiving in the market even as a cap of some sort?  

And I think the question is really on nuclear, of course.  I think Hydro prices now are considerably below that, so I think the problem is more the nuclear assets.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Can I take a short run at this, and then ...

      I think that the one thing that is loud and clear from the Regulation is that the payments that are going to be received on these assets are going to be something other than the market price; that the market price -- if the intention was that these were to be paid, either the market price or some variant on the market price, this reg would have said something very different than saying, The Board shall determine "just and reasonable payment."

     MR. RUPERT:  No, that's not my point.  My point would just be that I get your views as to whether resulting payment with the nuclear assets, that with some hindsight it seemed to exceed, in fact, the amount that is being realized in the marketplace by the generators would, in your view, constitute a just and reasonable rate.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And my answer was, as I said -- implicit in the question is that the market price is a de facto cap on what can be just and reasonable.  And in my submission, the answer to that is no.

     MR. HARPER:  Maybe if I could make a supplemental answer to the supplemental question.  I think that one also has to bear in mind the fact that the situation is not something that would rise overnight, you know; that through a typical type of cost-of-service regulation, you're looking at forecast costs, you’re looking at forecast capital expenditures.  The Board is deciding whether or not those capital expenditures are just and reasonable and prudent for OPG to make.  Presumably one of the benchmarks against that is that at the end of the day, is the power that's going to be produced comparative with the power that's available in the market elsewhere?

     And so that, to answer your question, I'd almost have to say, How did we get it into that sort of situation to begin with, kind of thing?  Because you know, through the regulatory process, those sorts of decisions and the prudency of the decisions that got us into that process will have been reviewed along the way.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay, I won't prolong that.  It sounds like you're saying that the Board's cost-of-service process should always result in a price that is less than market.

     MR. HARPER:  On an expectation forward, I think you would expect so, because that's the basis on which you are making a prudent investment in those assets.  After the fact, you know, I mean, if we found great reserves of natural gas under Toronto and could deliver it for a low cost, I don't know what would happen, but we don't know what's going to happen after that.

     MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, I think Tom wanted to respond. 


MR. RUPERT:  Oh, sorry, Tom.


MS. NOWINA:  Tom Adams.

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  It's on.  The light's on.  


I hope I can bring some light to this.  I wonder if I have permission to respond to all three questions that have been presented to the other questioners, not because I have a different take on them - and I want to endorse the submissions of the previous answerers - but I think I've got a couple of things to add.

      Ms. Nowina asked about the cost and length of the hearing, and I think that the cost and length of the hearing ought to be considered in the context of the total amount of money that we're talking about here.  And that's one point.

      The second is with respect to deferral and variance accounts and the protections that they offered, a question from Mr. Rupert.  I think that question cannot be separated from the Board's consideration of appropriate ROE.  And while it is true that other market participants may not have their own deferral and variance accounts, it's also true that they have a whole different level of expectation with regard to ROE.

     With regard to the role of the market price and whether a price that was different than market price could be found to be just and reasonable, I suggest that that question does not assist us in determining the relative merits of the incentive regulation versus the regulatory contracts versus the cost-of-service approach.  That's a problem that is a characteristic of an ambiguous hybrid market, and it is not of assistance in understanding the differentiation between these three regulatory approaches.

     MR. RUPERT:  Yes, I agree with what you said, Tom, at the end.  I had one other question, if I can, a very quick one, and then we can move on.


Your recommendation -- or I think page 27 of your submission to this presentation today goes through, under your proposal, of what might happen in the first proceeding.  And on ROE, your proposal for the initial ROE is to take the rate that the Board has approved, I guess at the time, for Hydro One Networks.  And I'm just wondering again about the same way ‑‑ a different way of asking the same question, about what led you to that recommendation, given that we're in different businesses, different risks.


The common element seems to be there is electricity and they're owned by the Province of Ontario.  So what is it about that that is something that the Board should consider?  I don't want to get into specifics about rates, but just the concept of relying on something like that as a starting point.  Why did you get there?


MR. HARPER:  I'll take the blame for the chart and I'll take the answer to the question.


[Laughter]


MR. HARPER:  We looked at the Board's question.  It was a question of:  What issues would you propose for the first proceeding?  

What we were trying to really do with this answer was demonstrate just through one straw-man that one doesn't necessarily have to consider all of the issues in the first hearing.  We tried to come up with some way, Well, is there a reasonable way you might try and triage the issues and decide which ones you might hear the first year, as opposed to ones you might put off for the second year?  


You know, the thought was, you know, it was just one suggestion that one might, if one wanted a placeholder for rate of return until one actually looked at it more fully in the second year, you know, maybe a reasonable placeholder just for the one year would be the Hydro One rate of return on equity.


You know, there was no magic to it in the sense that it was just saying it was probably a reasonable number that would hold the place for one year, if there were other issues you wanted to consider in the first cost‑of‑service hearing, and then the second year we could do a more diligent job of looking at what's an appropriate ROE.  It may well end up higher or it may well end up lower.  


One of the things that struck me in my mind is we were also considering you should look at incentive schemes in the first year.  Once you had more experience with those incentive schemes and understood how much revenue or risk OPG was exposed to through those incentives schemes, that might also help inform you as to what was the appropriate of ROE.


So you're right; there was no magic to it.  It was just a matter of saying, Are there ways that we could approach this that would give a reasonable result the first time around and allow us to manage the Board's regulatory resources by spreading the process over more than one year?


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


MS. NOWINA:  Questions from others?  

Sorry, I can't see your name.


MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy.


MS. NOWINA:  Larry Murphy.  I've asked you before.  I'm going to have to remember.


MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy from AMPCO.  

Two points were made in Mr. Stephenson's comments that I would like to respond to and maybe ask a question.  The first was that there's nothing in the Regulation that prevents the Board from looking at the ROE issue in a totally commercial fashion.  

Then, secondly, these rates that we're talking about in some sense provide a benefit to consumers.


Going back to the first, in fact, the definition of heritage assets that came out of the task force and was accepted by government, and quoted by the Staff, said: 

"Are provided from existing government‑owned assets which is sold to ratepayers at a price that reflects the historical costs of the associated assets." 


That's what they're talking about for heritage assets, "reflects the historical costs."


Now, in the case of the assets we're talking about, the initial historical costs were the ones that were transferred to the OEFC at the time of the creation of the successor companies.  And OPG assets at that time were about $26.5 billion.  Debt was 24.5, so the debt is the important part, because the assets were revalued at 8.5 and passed through to OPG.


And OPG is paying interest on the debt, the notes, that it transferred over to the OEFC to cover those assets.


So that's a small part of the total cost of those assets.  And, in fact, consumers are paying the rest of the cost to service that initial $24.5 billion debt in the form of DRC, in the form of PILs, in the form of the interest that's transferred from OPG and the government over to OEFC, in the form of dedicated payments.


So what we're getting here is really a limiting on the damaging of any more costs related to those initial assets.


It's not at all like the case of British Columbia, where consumers got an actual benefit from prescribing certain assets, with low operating costs, as being heritage, and, consequently, they're getting a price that's lower than market.


In fact, we're picking up all of the costs related to these assets, and this is simply a limitation on further adding to those costs.


MR. HARPER:  I guess ‑‑ Bill Harper again, for the court reporter.  

I guess one thing is all Mr. Stephenson said, there is nothing in the regulation, and I think a straight reading of that.  To the extent of what decision the Board makes at the end of the day in terms of what's an appropriate ROE on these assets, it can hear arguments from AMPCO about heritage assets and historical values.  


It can hear arguments from OPG about commercialization, and at the end of the day, it can make its own decision as to what's an appropriate ROE for these assets.  Maybe 5 percent.  Maybe 15 percent.  It is probably going to be somewhere between those two numbers, I would suggest, at the end of the day, but I don't think it's a determination that we can say we know going into the process right now.  


It's one of the things the Board is going to have to make a determination on.  I think that was the point.  It's not prescribed in the regulation.  It's something the Board has to make a determination on.


MR. MURPHY:  I would say some direction was given in the definition of heritage assets in the first place.


MR. HARPER:  And that's an argument you can make before the Board when the time comes.


MR. MURPHY:  Right.  Just on that issue, first of all, I wanted to --


MS. NOWINA:  Is this a supplemental question? 


MR. MURPHY:  No, but just on the issue, our concern is that there's a good understanding of what the history of the asset means.  And an interpretation of where the 5 percent came from was a simply passing‑through of the interest costs.  What happened during the debt/equity swap was the OPG, in return for those $8.5 billion of assets, issued $8.5 billion of notes and the province picked up $5.1 billion of that.  


That's its responsibility to pay the intra-service costs on that.  Okay?  And it's not the same interest rate as the rate that was being paid by OPG.  So I presume whoever set the 5 percent said, Ah, the real cost is 5 percent.  That's what the OEFC is looking for to recover its costs on the guaranteed debt. 


And that's a reasonable payment, because it covers off all the OEFC needs to meet its debt obligation.


MR. HARPER:  I think that's not an argument you'll have to make to me but you will have to make to somebody else at some future point in time.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay, I'll make it again later.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mike.


MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  Mike Lyle, OPA.  

I want to turn you back to the paper you submitted on September 7 and a statement on page 15 of that paper.  It's at the bottom of page 15.  You state that: 

"We submit that market integration issues for dispatchable capacity can be addressed through the consideration of appropriate management or payment schemes once the overall level of required payment for the prescribed assets has been determined." 


So just so that I'm clear, is that an acceptance of a payment structure to drive operational efficiency, similar to what London Economics and Board Staff have talked about in the context of regulatory contracts?


MR. HARPER:  Yes.  I believe if you read the paper, you'll find that's in the paper later on.  I think the characterization we've used very much in the paper is a distinction between just the traditional rate-setting process.  You set the revenue requirement; then you design the rates.  And I'd characterize that the level of payment we're talking about here is setting the revenue requirement.  


How OPG actually gets paid for that and the way you structure the rates, there's a whole bunch of different objectives you want to take into account when you're doing that.  And it will include things like:  Is it driving proper market integration?  Is it driving operational efficiencies?  There's a whole bunch of things and objectives the Board will have to take into account in that process.


MR. LYLE:  So I just want to get clear, then, what our area of disagreement is, because you believe that cost of service has to come first, and we believe that cost of service has to come first.  You believe that there has to be a payment structure that drives operational efficiencies, and we believe the same.  


Are we really talking about a process difference here, that we believe that OPA and OPG should enter into negotiations and that should come back to the Board; whereas, in your table on page 27, you talk about OPG coming forward with a proposal around payment structures?  Is that the difference?


MR. HARPER:  I can speak just for myself, and then I'd ask Tom and other people to strike in, but I think that is to some extent maybe the fundamental difference.  But it's also a matter of at the end of the day if OPA and OPG go away and they negotiate a deal and come back and say, Here's what the deal is, my view is the Board in exercising its view as to whether that's a reasonable deal or not is going to have to go through the same sorts of consideration it would have to go through in going into a cost-of-service process to begin with, sort of thing, so that to some extent we've gone through two processes instead of one.

      I think it would be more than reasonable for OPA and

OPG and ISO and other parties that wanted to sit down and maybe, even prior to OPG's submission, trying to come up with some consensus on what would be appropriate incentive schemes or payment schemes that would achieve the objectives that both the OIESO and OPA are looking for, as well as OPG, in terms of proposals for incentive schemes.  
To be honest with you, I had the same view.  In reading them through, I wasn't too sure; I didn't think we were miles apart.

      MR. ADAMS:  I agree that what you've identified are some core principles for which there is broad agreement with the possible sole outlier of Board Staff.

     MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, I would just add that at the end of the day, the Board's test has to be cost of service.  So you can come up with a negotiation, but at the end of the day, I think the test has to be what comes out of the cost-of-service process.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  And if I can just ... the Board has to be satisfied that on a forecast basis, assuming that there was some kind of payment scheme to incentivize operational efficiencies, the Board would have to be satisfied that given a reasonable forecast, the outcome applying that scheme to the output results in a total payment that is consistent with the cost of service. 


It's just like where you, in a distribution case, you have a revenue requirement, you've got a load forecast, and you've got a set of rates, and you multiply one by the other, and you satisfy yourself that it generates the appropriate revenue.

     MS. NOWINA:  That's it, Mike?

     MR. LYLE:  That was my supplemental, I think.

     MS. NOWINA:  Okay, then.  Jay.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  In your -- Jay Shepherd, School Energy

Coalition.

     In your written paper on page 10, and again in your submissions, Mr. Stephenson, you proposed a staged cost of service in effect over a period of years as a possible solution to the length of hearing issue.  And I guess what

I'd like to understand is are you proposing that the Board shouldn't make any change to OPG rates until they can do it right using a full cost of service; that is, if they use, for example, a creeping cost of service and they see some things along the way, can they not change the rates until the end of that process, or should they be changing them along the way?

MS. GIRVAN:  This is Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council.

     I sort of see it as similar in some respects to what we do on the gas side.  No, I don't think you're going to wait for three years to deal with all the issues.  As I said, we have been brainstorming, and we don’t think there is a perfect way to do it, but essentially, like in a gas case, you can on a given Issues Day set the sort of issues that you're going to consider and the context of that revenue requirement in that year.  

So I see it as, in certain years, you're going focus on certain key issues.  I don't see it any different than that.  So the Board will have the ability on an Issues Day to limit the scope of that particular proceeding for that year.  And there may be some sort of commitment the following year to deal with another set of issues.

     MR. HARPER:  Maybe an example to help out, Jay, is if you decided in the first year that you would look at nuclear and O&M, let's say.  One thing you could do, you could approach this on a two- or three-year prospective basis and ask OPG to give you a two- or three-year forecast of nuclear and O&M and go through and at the end of the day arrive at some conclusions out of that order as to what were reasonable O&M costs to use for the next three years.  

Come the second year, you might be dealing with another issue like ROE, but the first year you would have updated for the new O&M; you would then use the same forecast O&M the second year, which gets around the point you raised in some of your submissions about re-opening things again cycling back and revisiting the same issues.  


So I think the revenue requirement or the levels of payments would change every year based on the filings that were made on the new issues that were renewed each year.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so then my supplemental is, if I understand what you're saying, you're saying keep the current rates until the end of the first hearing; don't exercise the Board's jurisdiction to change the rates until the end of the first hearing; and at that point you will have looked at some of the cost-of-service issues, but not all of them.  It will be a full cost-of-service hearing, but only part of the items will actually have been looked at, because you cannot look at all of them at once.

      I only get one supplementary so you have to …


 And then the next year -- and then that's when you start to exercise the jurisdiction, at the end of that hearing.  

And so my question is - and you can correct me if my assumption's wrong - my question is:  Are you arguing that that's a legal restriction, that you can't change that rates until you've at least done that, or that you shouldn't?  That's my question.

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me answer that in two parts.  Obviously you can't change the rates until you've had the first hearing, because the Regulation says that these are the rates until the earlier of -- or, sorry, the later of, pardon me, March 31st, 2008, or the date of the Board's first order.  So the Board has to make an order for there to be any change in the payment amounts.

      So it's self-evident that there can't be a change in the payment amounts until there's an order, and we say that there has to be some form of a hearing before that occurs.

     Now –


MR. SHEPHERD:  A cost-of-service hearing?

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, and on our submission, a cost-of-service hearing.  And in my view, there are serious issues as to whether anything other than a cost-of-service hearing could satisfy the legislative requirement that the rates be just and reasonable.  The Board exercising its authority.  

      But I for one am not satisfied that the Board can't do it all in one go.  But that obviously dodges your question. 


Certainly, as far as I'm concerned, the answer to the question, assuming the Board was determined that it was going to do this on a staged basis, is that it would issue a rate order at the end of its first stage, recognizing that it has to accept certain numbers as being just and reasonable for the purposes of that stage.

      Implicit in any form of staging is that you're not looking at something right now.  And implicit in not looking at something right now is an acceptance that for the purposes of that hearing, it's just and reasonable.  And I think that would -- and I'm not sure if that answers the question about whether it's a legal requirement or an "ought to" requirement, but it's certainly an "ought to."

     MS. NOWINA:  You want your supplemental?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  [Inaudible].  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  

I have a question for you, Tom.  You have mentioned a couple of times that you think everyone's pretty well in agreement, and that Board Staff is the only one off-side.  


Can you just explain that a little bit more to me?

     MR. ADAMS:  I took a lot of comfort from the answers to the questions we received this morning from Schools and

AMPCO about their concerns and attention with regard to transparency and cost-based rates.  And I see -- well, I was just substantially in agreement with those comments.  I think that, combined with Michael Lyle's summary, which I

thought was also a very useful summary, suggested to me that, you know, we have yet to hear from the marketing community and some of the generators, so some new things may arise, but I see that those priorities that have been set out as very consistent with the approaches that were fundamental to the discussions that our group had -- extensive discussions, I should say.  


So the Board Staff approach that I had previously understood to be primarily focussed on retrospective information, was, I think, not similar to the approaches we've heard this morning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Jay.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, can I just follow up on that?  Having now heard Board Staff say they agree with the notion of cost‑of‑service-type filing, including prospective information, do you now think that we're sort of all on the same page, or do you still ‑‑ how are they now an outlier?


MR. ADAMS:  We are getting closer.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  That may be a positive note on which we should take our lunch break.


MS. GIRVAN:  But can I answer ‑‑ maybe I'm being naive.


MS. NOWINA:  Julie, your name.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan, sorry, Consumers Council.  

But isn't the starting point, though, the existing rates?  So that's where the difference is, and we're saying that's not the appropriate starting point.  We think you need a cost of service to establish the appropriate starting point.  

So to me, that's the underlying difference between where Board Staff is coming from; whereas where everybody else, I think, is sort of somewhat in agreement.


MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger, AMPCO.  Maybe one part of this I can clarify.


MS. NOWINA:  Mike.


MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger for AMPCO.  

Perhaps I could just put to Richard or the others one aspect of what the Board needs in each of its various stages under your model to make a decision.  I think Bill's words were "triaging the issues".  


If you think that the house that you're building, if that is the cost of service, and your model is the foundation for this house, the benchmarking studies and the appropriate performance measure information, that you also need that for the Board to make a decision in each of the triage steps.  


In other words, would it be premature, in your view, to have any hearing on any of those steps unless you had the corresponding benchmarks?  


MR. STEPHENSON:  If you're going to use my metaphor, we may as well get my metaphor the way I put it.  The metaphor is it's not that the house is cost of service.  The house is the determination of just and reasonable rates, and the foundation for the house is a cost‑of‑service review.  


That being said, the question then becomes:  What role do benchmarking studies play in a cost‑of‑service review, I think is the ‑‑ and do we view that as somehow an intrinsic element of it?


I'm going to speak only for myself on this point, and then others can speak.


The Board has dealt with issues like benchmarking studies in the context of cost‑of‑service reviews, and, as I understand it, the current view typically of the Board is that those are useful pieces of information in its analysis, and I assume that it would view it the same way here.


It has certainly set just and reasonable rates on a cost‑of‑service basis without benchmarking studies, so I don't view it as being an absolute pre‑condition, by any means.  But I assume that it would be considered by the Board to be relevant evidence that, if it was available, they would want to hear.


MR. HARPER:  Maybe Mark ‑ it's Bill Harper - if I can sort of answer what is the underlying question which you didn't ask, and that is really:  Do you think that such information is available in sufficient form to bring to the table to hold an adequate hearing the first time round?  


You know, that's sort of the implicit question behind that.


MR. RODGER:  Supplementary.


MR. HARPER:  Right.  I might as well cut to the supplementary, then.  And in that case, I believe that between the types of benchmarking studies - and Larry has indicated the OPG is already obligated to undertake by its shareholder - with the type of historical information that it can probably bring to the table for what costs have been in the past, combined with forecasts, combined with -- I would expect to see business cases supporting new capital expenditures, new plans for OM&A.


The type of information they could bring to the table should be as good as or better than what we saw with the Hydro One proceeding in '98 and '99, and it should be enough to do an adequate job to gauge whether or not the resulting level of payments is reasonable.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan.  Just to add to that, yes, I think benchmarking studies can be of use.  I don't think that they necessarily are the be‑all and end‑all, especially in special circumstances like this.  But I would say the Board can use benchmarking studies as a tool, and it's a tool amongst many tools that they may use to determine cost of service.


MS. NOWINA:  Tom.


MR. ADAMS:  First of all, I'm speaking ‑‑ Tom Adams, Energy Probe.  I'm speaking to this question about whether benchmarking should be a pre‑condition as somebody that's probably, more than anybody else in the room, been cross‑examined trying to defend the case for benchmarking by several of the lawyers that are in the room.  So I'm a bit of a fanatic for benchmarks.


But in this particular case, particularly with the nuclear side, the kind of benchmarks that we'll be able to draw on are going to be fundamentally problematic.


Most of the CANDU fleet, is outside of Ontario, is not in operation in Canada.  Most of it's in Korea and in Romania, India, Pakistan, Argentina.  It's going to be very difficult to draw in lessons from those jurisdictions.


There is other information that the Board can look to, and one particular area where I think it likely to be particularly significant is the cost trend experience.  What has been going on with OPG's O&M experience?  And that history, since the formation of OPG, may be very significant, and this is one of the reasons we think transparency ought to be a primary principle.


MS. NOWINA:  Larry.


MR. MURPHY:  And if you find that out, what can you say about it?  Unless you knew that was a common phenomenon among all nuclear generators or that it was unique to just a few of them, how would you reach any useful conclusions by just looking at the numbers?  


MR. ADAMS:  Tom Adams for Energy Probe.  The Board deals with that kind of information on the gas side and tries to make decisions on that basis. 


OPG may be able to, through its presentation of information, help us distinguish between exogenous factors.  I mean, there have been profound changes, for example, in their requirements for site security since 9/11 that will have an influence on their costs, and so there's going to have to be disaggregation of information.  But I don't accept the premise that we have to have benchmarking as a pre‑condition.


MR. MURPHY:  Follow‑up?  Although it would be extremely useful, what they say in the memorandum of agreement between OPG and its shareholder is a focus, of course, on nuclear operations, and it says: 

"OPG benchmarks will benchmark its performance in these areas against CANDU nuclear plants worldwide, as well as the top quartile of private and publicly-owned nuclear electricity generators in North America.  OPG's top operational priority will be to improve the operation of its existing fleet." 


And presumably that information is going to be very good help in getting some direction on whether they're way out in left field, in the ballpark, or whatever.


And I think some kind of standard, seems to me, to be absolutely essential to interpret the information that we're gathering from various areas.  

It's like my grandson was at a baseball game last night and won the championship, and I asked him, How much did you hit?  And he said .225.  And I thought, That's pretty good.  So how much the rest hit?  And he said .375, .330.  So then I knew he was probably contributing defensively on the team.  


Anyway, you need some kind of reference point, or I don't know how you interpret that.


MR. ADAMS:  I can't disagree with that.


MS. NOWINA:  One last question, if there is one?  

Why don't we break for lunch, then, and we'll resume at 1:30.  I understand there is food at the back of the room.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:18 p.m. 
     --- On resuming at 1:30 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Shall we get started again?

     Well, we're into the regulatory contracts discussion portion of the day.  And our first speaker on that - and I’m looking over at you folks - will either be Robert Power or Sandy O’Connor, and I don't know which.


MR. POWER:  It will start with myself, and Sandy or myself might have a closing comment or two, if that's acceptable.

     MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  Go ahead.


PRESENTATION BY MR. POWER:


MR. POWER:  Thank you very much.  Robert Power for the Electricity Market Investment Group, or EMIG.  Thank you very much for the opportunity to be here.  

We're going to keep our presentation fairly high level.  EMIG, as you may know, is a large group of companies who operate in the Ontario market who represent both major investment and generation in wholesale and resale, as well as represent a large number of customers across Ontario.

      There are three principal points of concern, of importance, to this proceeding that EMIG sees.  It's not directly on some of the debate here about cost of service, but it's related.  

And first off, the submission, we feel that the Board has an obligation to weigh the impact of its decision in this matter on the broader electricity market, given the nature of the hybrid model.  


From our very early days, our view is that there is a very strong synergy between all the OPG assets and the rest of the generators and how they collectively serve the customers.  That's our first point.

      In particular, the second point is that the OPG prescribed asset output is the key to the success of the hybrid market in its early days.  It is the largest component to the power that's presently available for forward contracting, which I'll get into a bit more, and as such, with the forward markets in a relatively nascent stage looking for supply capacity, the OPG-prescribed asset output is an important part of that.

      And then, finally, we would suggest that the regulated contracts are the most efficient and effective way to achieve the objects of the hybrid model, and I'll turn to Sandy to cover that off.

      We also believe -- you'll see on the slide there, with the IPSP coming before the Board, the Board's going to have some broad new responsibilities which we alluded to this morning.  And candidly, I really think it's difficult for someone to see how this is all going to pan out.  We’re trying to use our best judgment as to what’s the right thing to do in the circumstances, but there's a much more detailed plan that's going to come before us, a 20-year plan in the near term, that will be before the Board.

     And probably go to the next page, please.

     In terms of the hybrid market, it's relatively undefined.  We've heard different perspectives from different people.  I guess one of the perspectives we'd like to bring is that there are, from the customer perspective, there are the RPP customers and there are other customers, which maybe you can call the market-based customers, or customers who have chosen to opt out of the RPP because they're looking for different options to manage their electricity costs.  Indeed, they're looking for commercially offered, you could say, market-based price plans.  And we feel that those customers are equally important in this discussion, as are the RPP customers.

      I think the hybrid market is –- the reality is we have a state-owned generator, which at the end of the day is not just assets, kind of like a pipeline, but has a vested interest in selling its commodity, not like a pipeline, into a market, and we have private sector generators who have to compete with the state-owned generators, each of which have to come together, somehow, to meet the customers demands and needs throughout Ontario.

      I think it's important from our perspective to note that the public ownership of OPG is not an issue.  That's been decided.  But the role of the OPG output, particularly from the prescribed assets, in meeting the hybrid market objectives and serving all customers, is the question.

      Next page, please.

      I think it's fair to say, and I think most people know, that the OPG generation output dominates the market as a whole.  By going back to the McDonald Commission, market design committee and other forums, this has endlessly been an issue of the size of OPG in the market and how are we going to transition from the market dominance role to something where we can have many players, many competitors. 


We haven't gotten there yet, and that's a reality.  And what we have in the present legislation, Bill 100, which is more a framework, in our submission, than it is a codified way to deal with many of these issues, has articulated in this hybrid model what recognizes OPG in transition with a market dominance position to some other end state which we haven't articulated, and I don't think we all know where it's going yet.  But it is in transition.  The legislation contemplates that.

      And during that transition, it has to live with the other generators.  It lives within a market.  There's a market world where they offer it.  There's prices.  It lives within terms of how much capacity, for example, the OPA is going to recommend we need in Ontario.  In a variety of ways, they work together; they have to.

      Next page, please.

      So we've articulated more in our paper, but while the

OEB may not have a direct regulatory role over a variety of the private sector players or their activities in the market, we do believe the OEB has an obligation to consider the impact of the broader market in determining the payment methodology, and in particular, to ensure that the chosen methodology is consistent with the hybrid model, wholesale and retail competition, and market-based generation investment.  And, in fact, we would argue that these are encapsuled in the objectives of, or in the legislation.

      We've already heard around the table issues of How do you incent OPG?  What are the right incentives?  Well, how you incent them is going to affect their behaviour not only within the company but obviously how they act within the market within the larger role of the Ontario electricity system.  

So the understandings and implications of the other incentives on other parties is our concern, and we think part of the focus that has to occur here.

      Next page.

      In terms of the transition, our view is there's probably four points that have to occur over the next four years in Ontario.  There has to be a greater role for the private sector in generation, development, and the assumption of risk, rather than the ratepayer continuing to take that risk, as we've heard.

      With that is going to come competition in generation, more so, which will drive down prices for customers over time.  New and more efficient assets will come into play. 

Older, less efficient assets will not be in play; that's what has happened to markets around the world.

      We think there should be a market open to all customers with a wide range of product offerings, whether it be a facility, a manufacturing plant that might make 1 percent return on equity because it's in a thinly margined business.  If it wants price certainty for five years, the market should be able to respond to that.  If it's another business that's content operating on the spot, that's it's choice, but the customer should drive what products should are on the market, and the flexibility should be there, and we think OPG's prescribed assets, at 40 percent of the power output capacity in the market, is a key part of that. 

      Next page, please.

      In our paper we've alluded to a number of speeches from the government, The Minister of Energy in particular on a number of occasions.  I'll leave those for your sort of contextual setting, but this one, in particular, I believe, underscores what Minister Duncan said:

“Another aspect of the market that is currently underdeveloped is forward contracting ... making the markets work for all consumers requires the availability of a variety of flexible products and services."

I can't see how we're going to get there if, inadvertently or directly, OPG's hamstrung from being in the market.  I’m not saying it's going to happen, but our concern is that through this proceeding, it might occur.

      Next page, please.

      It's interesting listening to this discussion, which I think has been quite helpful for all of us to understand the different positions, but one of the concerns that I think participants in the market would have is inadvertence.  If you started off on a cost-of-service process, a limited cost of service, and it's going to take ten years to unfold to get to the right answer, what is that going to do to not only OPG's behaviour but what is that going to do to the confidence of the other potential generator investors in the market?

     It's a very difficult question.  We don't know how it's going play out, but I can tell you it's a very live question because of the complexities, issues, and the potential time frame that's being contemplated to get to what's the right response.

      And I think, Mr. Rupert, you raised an excellent checklist of about seven or eight questions earlier on that we've been doodling on too and how will they be dealt with.  It’s difficult to see.  So trying to achieve regulatory certainty as best we can is very important at this stage, I think, in the early days of the hybrid market.

      And I think the legislation has given you a fair amount of flexibility to consider these things.  Certainly when we look at the act and at Regulation 53/05, while there are a few things that you are required to look at or to do, overall is there is terrific discretion on how you might approach the issue and how you see it in the overall marketplace.

      Next page, please.

      We're very cognizant of the role of the OPA, brought in because, candidly, nobody in the market would come into

Ontario and put a half billion dollars in the ground.  There had to be a creditworthy counter-party in Ontario, or we would not get new private-sector risk-assumed-based generation.  
So the OPA was created.  At the same time, we supported, when the Government did that, the notion of the OPA should ultimately fade away over time.  At a minimum, it should become the procurer of last resort.


For it to become the procurer of last resort to achieve what we believe are the objectives it's going set out in its integrated power system plan, there has to be -- as the Minister alluded to in his comments, there has to be a functioning market, a very healthy, vibrant market, that's going to take on or be able to support, provide confidence in, much bigger investment decisions than it's able to right now.  Somehow we have to get from here to there.


Next page.


With respect to the different methodologies that are before you, our personal view is that the regulated contracts approach is the best option.  We think there's a terrific amount of experience with it.  Sandy will talk to that.


We think that the OPA has been created, in fact, to develop, embody that expertise, and to execute regulated contracts, and have been doing so quite effectively for some time, and agencies in other parts of the world have been doing that, as governments have.  Indeed, the Ministry of Energy here just did the Bruce Power nuclear refurbishment regulatory contract, which is as complex as anything which OPG would have to look at for its own nuclear operations.  


So there's nothing mysterious about this.  Regulatory contracts are almost implementation vehicles which embody a methodology which has to be derived at before you even finish the contract.  There's no doubt there has to be a review of the costs that go into it, but as well as the revenues and the return on equity.  


At the end of the day, you encapsulate it in this contract as a way of providing certainties to the parties, and you give it a term, and the parties go away for that term having that certainty.  And the rest of the market will look at that term of certainty, as well, and say, We know that at least for five years, ten years we have relative certainty as to how OPG's prescribed assets will be rewarded, remunerated, operated, reviewed.  And that sort of certainty is extremely important to this marketplace.


So I'll turn now to Sandy, and then, as I alluded to, I'll have a couple of comments at the end, but I have to conclude on behalf of EMIG that the group of companies in EMIG think this sort process is extremely helpful.  This sort of advance consultation to get people thinking around the issues, because they are new, we certainly support.  


We think Board Staff has been handed a very tough task and has done a good job of pulling together the issues, but we think a lot more thinking has to occur on it.  I think we're all doing our best, and we look forward to that process too.


PRESENTATION BY MS. O’CONNOR:


MS. O'CONNOR:  I'm Sandy O'Connor from TransAlta.  If we can look to our next slide, please.  While you're looking, I will just start talking for a sec.  There we are.


Right.  And you can go on to the first one.  Thank you.


I just wanted to tell you a little bit about how who we are.  I think most of you in Ontario know us as a private sector or a merchant generation company.


We actually at one point were a vertically integrated utility with a monopoly service area and subject to cost of service in Alberta.  So we have had to transition through that from basically being a traditional utility to being a competitive generation company.


We now operate with both regulated contracts and market‑based investments, so we've kind of seen it all, I guess is the point I wanted to make.  So we're fairly familiar with what's involved with some of the cost‑of‑service aspects, as well.


Next slide, please.


Then I just wanted to speak to you a little bit about what our perspective is as an existing generator and investor in Ontario.  And really and truly, at the end of the day, confidence in the market is critical, I think, to the entire hybrid market.  And some of the things that we see that cause us concern or need to kind of discuss further are some of the OPG issues that might include the market power issues, how they're going to be allowed to make new investments in this market, the market policy itself, which at the moment is the hybrid market.  


But, really, our confidence requires that there's some certainty and stability in that, and so we kind of need to know what the future looks like going forward, and to the extent we start to throw in, I guess, new models that look like cost of service of incentive-based regulation, it changes the mix for us again.  So stability is pretty critical to us here.  


Then just issues as to how all this is going to play out in the market, I mean, how ‑‑ questions that we now -- how OPG be incented and regulated with respect to their participation in not only the HOEP market but any day‑ahead and forward markets that may evolve.


A level playing field is important to us.  To the extent that we can make this work, all generators are governed in a similar and transparent fashion.  I think it really makes things much easier for us to be investing in this market.


Next slide.


So at the end of the day, we land on regulatory contracts as being our preferred solution, and we really believe they provide a number of strengths and advantages to the hybrid market.  They balance the focus on all the major costs, revenue, and operational behaviour issues, which I think is more difficult to do under a cost of service or an incentive-based regulation mechanism.


They do provide some customer protection.  Cost overruns are at the risk of the generator, not the ratepayer.


We fully support a public review of the major contract elements in any procurement processes.  So we are all ‑‑ we totally believe in the transparency of this and believe that that needs to be the case.


We think that contracts provide you with flexibility to address the market issues and efficiencies that we've touched on earlier.


Investor confidence:  We understand the methodology and the certainty of a contract, which is important to us.  It provides stability to us, and we believe that OPG would be forced to act as a commercial entry in the market under a contract mechanism, which kind of gets back to our level playing field concern again.


And we also believe that this is nothing new to this market. We have a lot of experience with contracts, as Rob said, and so that's another thing that helps us with the confidence, stability, level playing field, is this experience we have had in the past.


So at the end of the day, I think we've come a long way today, as Rob said, and we thank you for the opportunity to present to you.  I think we've come a lot closer together on what's important.  I think we have all agreed we need an information base.  Transparency is very important to the process, and we just think contracts are the most market‑friendly option going forward.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MS. O'CONNOR:  Right back to Rob for a second.


MR POWER:  And if I could, just two observations.  I apologize.  Listening to the group, we've increasingly been agreeing with those who raised the question why we cannot begin the task of reviewing OPG's cost information now, because surely a large component of it is already there.  


If you can do it with Bruce Power in a number of months, in less than a year, you can do it with large gas‑fired generators.  Everybody has a certain sense of what is there.  

We also think that you could proceed in parallel and perhaps ask the IESO and the OPA to come back with a workshop on how a framework for regulatory contracts could work with the prescribed assets so we all have a better sense of what it looks like.  


So by having these two tasks move forward in parallel, I think all of us would be better off in terms of understanding the information that's available, what get some consensus there and what a regulatory contract framework might look like, what's involved and what might be subject to a higher degree of public scrutiny, what's the proper forum, and that sort of thing, and we'd be very comfortable participating in it.  


I think most people would have more comfort if we had that as a next step or an appropriate step in the process.


And then my last comment is we cautioned a bit of lifting of the concept of heritage assets from BC and Quebec, because, while that term has been used there, the system that it derives out of is very different, in that there we have, in effect, large monopolies there.  They have NOG contracts, but we don't have an effective ‑‑ they don't have a market the way we have.  They don't have a wide range of privately owned, independently dispatched generators.  There's a series of circumstances that are different, principally large hydroelectric systems.


So while we appreciate the political dynamic of where the concept comes from, and the customer dynamic of the name, the reality is it doesn't translate well into Ontario, because we have moved far beyond where they are, so we think you have to take that and think it through in the Ontario context.  


Thank you very much.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  I think Bill has a question of clarification.


MR. RUPERT:  I know it's not the question time, but before we move into the OPA and the IESO, just a couple of questions about what you mean by “regulatory contracts.”  And I don't want to pin you down on things that are too detailed if you haven't thought them through, but is your idea of regulatory contracts somewhat akin to what, say, the OPA recently did with its forward auction.  It sold off some power, some of which OPG supplied.  And the price comes in; let's say at $75 a megawatt hour, just to pick a number for a two-year term, or whatever it is.

      Is your contemplation of regulatory contracts such that that becomes the price the Board has to decide is the right price for the OPG to keep, or is there a separate process similar to the OPA auction –- in this case, the government decided that the OPG's revenue cap could be raised a little bit, kind of given a little money to participate.  The rest of it, however, continues to go back to customers to the global adjustment process.  What is the price, out of your regulatory contract model, that would be the price that OPG keeps? 

MR. POWER:  I'll try and answer your question this way, because there are a series of subpoints to that.  I think, first off, there has to be a policy decision made, if I may, which is probably beyond cost of service, as to what is the appropriate amount OPG should keep.  And I don't think we can answer that here today, but in the case of the auction, the government says, Well, we'll give you a little extra margin to participate in the forward auction, as I understand it, and that's the right incentive for you to participate.  Probably some type of decision has to be made around here, as well, if that's what you're looking for.  But there's probably a couple of different ways to cut it too.  

I think the legislation has left you a lot of flexibility to look at what’s the right thing in the right circumstances.  So we don't have a prefixed notion.  I can't say we've thought through what are the different options, because our understanding, that was the next stage of this process with the Board Staff, this implementation side. 


But, you know, I defer to Sandy.  I think there's a couple of different ways you can do it.

     MR. RUPERT:  That’s fine.  We can swing back to it later in the question period.  That helps right now.  Thanks.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mike Lyle for OPA.


PRESENTATION BY MR. LYLE:

     MR. LYLE:  Thank you.  The OPA has stated on a number of -- just make sure I ... second page, Gaetanne?

     Thanks.

     The OPA has stated on a number of occasions that it believes the best long-term direction for the electricity sector is to evolve to a more fully competitive market where the risk related to new generation facilities is borne by investors, rather than ratepayers.

      However, the OPA recognizes that there's not a consensus among stakeholders that this is the appropriate future direction to follow.  The OPA also understands that the OEB is not in this process deciding on the future long-term path for Ontario's electricity sector.

     It's for this reason that the OEB should avoid choosing options that are more likely to close off future potential directions.

      The OPA believes that the regulatory contracts approach provides the flexibility for future policy-makers to choose a number of different directions.  It's therefore a policy-neutral approach.

      The procurement contracts that the OPA has entered into to date for new generation assets are designed to be able to operate in the current hybrid market, a more fully competitive market or a return to a fully regulated system.

      The OPA believes that the regulatory contracts methodology is the superior of the three potential approaches when you consider the impacts on the efficient operation of the existing wholesale market and private sector investment in new generation.

      As stated in the London Economics paper, the regulatory contracts approach is superior in providing OPG with appropriate incentives in that it relies on market signals to drive operating decisions.

      I won't dwell any further on this issue.  I know the

IESO is going to address it in more detail.

      In reviewing the submissions of the parties, it's clear that many parties do not have a clear understanding of the regulatory contract option, and that's driving some of their concerns about this particular approach.  That's partly the fault of the OPA in not properly explaining this approach.  

It partly reflects the greater experience that intervenors have in cost-of-service rate-making than in incentive-based rate-making.  I also think it also reflects what London Economics noted as the fact that this approach doesn't fit well into a sound byte.  


This may be a good point to turn to Mr. Rupert's question and what we envisage a regulatory contract to be.

      It's our understanding that, first of all, there should be a full cost-of-service proceeding.  That should lead to determination of the appropriate cost inputs that would go into the appropriate -- the formula developed through negotiation between OPA and OPG that would drive the payments that are made to OPG.  The negotiated approach arrived at would then have to come back to the Board for a full review in a subsequent proceeding.

      With respect to the issue of forward contracting, there are currently provisions in existing OPA contracts that allow the OPA to assign its rights under those contracts.  It also allows the OPA to provide a third party with the right to direct dispatch under those contracts. 

And we would propose that similar provisions be contained in the regulatory contracts that are arrived at in negotiation between OPA and OPG.

      However, we realize the concern about market evolution and the fact that there is not a consensus on the way forward.  And for that reason, we would propose that this ability to sign the contract or direct the dispatch of the contract would not be triggered unless there was a further OEB-approval.  That would ensure that there would be no further step towards market evolution that the OEB did not consider appropriate.

      Now, the concerns that parties have raised about the regulatory contracts approach can be divided into, I think, five categories.  One is a concern with transparency.  Another is with the complexity.  Another is with respect to the costs to customers.   A fourth is with respect to the risk to OPG.  And finally there's a concern about the mandate the OPG has been given under legislation. 

     Addressing first transparency.  As I stated a moment ago, the OPA supports the approach put forward in the London Economics paper of having a transparent quasi-judicial process to determine the appropriate cost inputs to any regulatory contract.  We believe cost-of-service proceeding is the fundamental building block for the regulatory contract model.

      And as we've heard this morning, there appears to be a great deal of consensus between ourselves and the cost-of-service group in that regard.

      The OPA has limited experience in cost-of-service rate-making and looks to other parties with more experience for their insights into the issues that need to be considered in a cost-of-service hearing.

      The OPA also believes that it is important that all aspects of the regulatory contract process be as transparent as possible, and that is why, in our July 24th submission, we put forward an approach that would ensure stakeholder input in all stages of the process, including in the OEB's process for reviewing the contractual terms and conditions arrived at by OPA and OPG.

      Turning, then, to complexity.  I think it's first fair to state that no matter what approach is chosen the nature of this subject matter is going to dictate a great deal of complexity.  We heard Mr. Harper this morning say that for reasons of regulatory efficiency, he believes that the payment structure issue should be addressed at the same time as the cost-of-service proceeding.

      I think that's where our fundamental disagreement with the cost-of-service group lies.  We do not believe that developing a formula to drive operational efficiency by OPG can be efficiently dealt with in a quasi-judicial process.  We believe that the public interest will be much better served if the formula is arrived after negotiations between OPG and an organization with a public interest mandate, such as the OPA.

     The alternative, as proposed by the cost-of-service group, is that to leave it to OPG to come up independently with their own proposal for a payment structure.  We believe it would be very difficult to test that payment structure in a regulatory proceeding, and that is why the flexible approach of contractual negotiations is a better approach.

     Ultimately, we agree with the conclusion of London Economics that it is important not to exaggerate the difficulties inherent in implementing a regulatory contracts approach.

     I'll skip to slide 9.

     With respect to the mandate that the OEB has been given, some have questioned the regulatory contract approach as not being within the scope of the government's intentions.  VECC stated earlier in this proceeding that if the government had intended the prices to be set through some form of regulatory contract, then it would likely have assigned responsibility for pricing directly through the OPA, who's in a better position to implement such an approach.


Some doubt has also been expressed by others as to whether the Board actually has the jurisdiction to set OPG payments in such a manner.


The OPA believes that what motivated the government to give the OEB the obligation to set payments to OPG was the nature of the regulatory process, with its transparency and testing of evidence under cross‑examination.  It's that which makes it an ideal venue to establish costs, and that benefit would be preserved in a regulatory contract model.


The hearing room is not an ideal venue to negotiate complex formulae to ensure that OPG is incented to operate efficiently.


The OPA also submits that there's no aspect of the OPA's proposal that is beyond the OEB's jurisdiction.  The OEB is ceding none of its authority.  The outcome of any negotiations would be subject to full regulatory scrutiny by the OEB.  


The OEB has broad authority to include in its rate order conditions, classifications or practices, including rules respecting the calculation of the amount for payment.


Further, the OEB also has under its licensing powers the ability to require OPG to enter into agreements with other persons on specified terms approved by the Board relating to its trading or operations.


In summary, then, the regulatory contracts approach has a number of advantages:  It is policy neutral.  It provides incentives for OPG to operate efficiently.  It does not discourage private investment.  It is transparent.  It is flexible.  In short, it combines the best aspects of the quasi‑judicial and contract processes.


And just to finish up, I'd like to comment briefly on Mr. Power's final comments.  Mr. Power suggests that perhaps there should be some sort of workshop involving the IESO and the OPA in addressing how the regulatory contracts model could work, and we would certainly endorse that approach.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mike.  

And for IESO, Brian Rivard.

PRESENTATION BY MR. RIVARD:


MR. RIVARD:  Thank you.  Thank you for providing us with the opportunity to further elaborate on our comments on the Board Staff discussion paper.  

In our submission, we propose that the Board adopt the concept of a regulated CfD as a payment methodology for regulating the OPG-prescribed assets, and “CfD” stands for “contract for difference.”  


We've been asked by Board Staff to appear here today to do two things:  First, to discuss the key elements of the regulated CfD concept, what it is, and what our motivation is in recommending it as an approach; and, second, we've been asked to address specific questions relating to the implementation of the concept, how the quantities and the prices are to be determined and how the new investments will be dealt with.


So we have organized our presentation to speak to each of these issues.  We will also address the general questions that have been asked of all of the participants; mainly, the questions around the variance and deferral accounts, and the type of detailed information and issues that would come up in the first proceeding.


So let me begin by describing the regulated CfD.  Simply stated, it's a regulatory construct whereby ratepayers are provided a guaranteed price for a prescribed amount of their consumption, and OPG is assured of receiving this price if it produces this output.  More specifically, the regulated CfD is a market-based incentive mechanism that assigns hourly prescribed quantities, along with the corresponding prescribed prices, both the nuclear and the baseload hydroelectric prescribed assets.


The regulated CfD is similar to a commercial CfD in that buyers and sellers financially commit to a fixed price and quantity for future energy exchange.  The difference, however, is that with the regulated CfD, the Board determines the prices and quantities, so the public policy rules are balanced.  And I'll elaborate on this a little bit more later on in the presentation.


The regulated CfD can be considered a regulatory contract in the spirit of the term, as outlined in the Board Staff's discussion paper.  However, we think that the regulated CfD could also be viewed as a variant of both the incentive regulation model and the cost‑of‑service model.  I think that covers all of those aspects.  


And the important point is that the regulated CfD is an incentive‑based mechanism that can work with a variety of mechanisms as the industry evolves.


One final note on the regulated CfD, and that is that it's really not that dissimilar to the current approach to regulating OPG's prescribed assets.  The key difference, however, is that the regulated CfD would prescribe a price and a quantity, rather than just a price, as is done currently.  


Assigning a prescribed quantity is what strengthens OPG's incentive to operate the assets more efficiently.  At the recent markets advance panel report notes assigning of quantities supports dispatch efficiency by ensuring that generators have the incentive to offer at prices related to costs, and this ensures that they operate when the marketplace values them the most.  


In the case of the nuclear facilities, the regulated CfD also proposes to allow OPG to be paid market-clearing prices for at least a proportion of their nuclear capacity, and this would provide OPG with an additional incentive to assure that the units are available or brought back from outage on a more efficient ‑‑ you know, a better time.


So the OPG and others have raised some concern that the regulated CfD could negatively affect their financial incentive, and the concern rises from the potential that OPG may have suddenly several outages affecting their ability to supply the prescribed quantities.


In that the regulated CfD represents a financial obligation on OPG to deliver this quantity and typically at the prevailing market-clearing price, OPG is concerned that the costs of such outages could be high.


Of course, from an efficiency standpoint, I think this is what you want.  I think this is what we all want.  One wants the participant who is best capable of managing the particular risk to manage it.  Arguably, OPG is the only entity that can manage outage risk.  It's certainly not ratepayers or others.  It is this risk that will drive OPG to operate efficiently.


However, we understand OPG's concerns.  It is in no one's interest if OPG's financial integrity is negatively affected.  We are of the view, however, that if the regulated CfD were adopted by the Board, this concern can be addressed through the appropriate determination to prescribe price and prescribe quantities.


And we have some workable ideas as to how to address this concern, and I'll discuss this a little bit later.


So why does the IESO recommend the concept of a regulated CfD?  Well, the regulated CfD achieves the Board's stated public policy objectives on a sufficiently timely basis and with a high degree of transparency, fairness, regulatory efficiency, and consistency.


It's consistent with OPG's agreement with its shareholders, and it strikes a balance between the proper allocation of risk and the provision of incentives for efficiency improvements.  The efficiency and reliability gains are particularly strong in the case of pump storage.  This is at the Beck facility.  


The current regulatory scheme provides OPG with financial drivers that it follow lead to inefficiencies, and its pump storage decisions are based on a notational prescribed price; in this case, the $33.  


Under the regulated CfD, however, the drivers for time‑shifting generation or time-shifting water are based on the actual price differences in high-price and low-price periods, leading to increased efficiency and enhanced reliability.  This is what we think is a very important aspect to achieve in the market and the driver behind the regulated CfD.


So we want to stress that the IESO has proposed the regulated CfD at a conceptual level, rather than going into minute detail around its implementation.


The Board determined that the approach has merit as a concept.  The details would be fleshed out through the regulatory process.  That being said, the details are, we believe, less onerous relative to those underlying an IR approach.  And depending on the position of the Board with respect to the just and reasonableness of the current prescribed prices, the details are less than those underlying the cost‑of‑service approach. 


Regulatory efficiency is one of the virtues of the regulated CfD.


So let me now turn to address some of the specific questions around the regulated CfD concept as was raised by the Board Staff.


The first question was:  How would the quantities of output available at regulated prices be determined and how would prices be set?  This was essentially how would we determine the prescribed quantities and prices under the regulated CfD?  


As I stated earlier, the regulated CfD offers the OEB the flexibility to establish quantities in a manner that it believes best satisfies its stated objectives.  The goal in determining quantities would be to establish the prescribed quantity that balances both the needs of ratepayers but at the same time OPG's financial integrity.  


What I'd like to do now is just offer some suggestions on how we think that this could be achieved and how this is a workable proposition or a work approach.

      For the prescribed nuclear assets, we propose that the prescribed quantity be established as a percentage of the nuclear capacity.  This capacity would be adjusted to reflect such items as planned outages, including outages for refurbishments, historic availability factors, and force majeure events.  We think that these combinations go a long way towards providing OPG with manageable levels of risk while still providing them with incentives for efficiency.  


Moreover, OPG's financial delivery risk could be further capped by limiting its buyback obligations to a percentage of the difference between the real-time price and the prescribed price.

      Turning to the baseload hydroelectric facilities.  In our initial submission, we suggested that the prescribed quantity be set equal to the run of river level of output.  We think that this is a reasonable quantity to use which would balance the Board's objectives.

      And once again, we offer these ideas as suggestions of how the regulated CfD could be made workable.  The actual details could be fleshed out in a regulatory hearing.  We spent some time thinking about more specific suggestions, but I imagine that the regulatory hearing can usually flesh these out.

      I'd like to a make a comment now on the prescribed prices.

      In our initial submission, we accepted the Board Staff position that, at least initially, the prices could be set equal to current regulated prices.  We suggested that these prices could be adjusted annually according to an input cost-inflation factor.  We also suggested that the OEB could use these prices for a period of perhaps three years, and this would avoid a cost-of-service review, unless such a hearing would be both necessary and meaningful.

      Now, if the Board finds merit in the regulated CfD model and believes that the current rates need to be reviewed now, the Board may direct a limited cost-of-service proceeding to establish initial prescribed prices under the regulated CfD.

      So turning to the second question addressed specifically to ISO, and that is:  How would the Board review additional investments by OPG?  And how do such reviews account for additional revenues earned by OPG under the regulated CfD?

     We would suggest that additional investment costs to increase the output of or refurbish or adding operating capacity facilities could be covered through an adjustment of the prescribed price.  As stated in the current regulation, investments covered would be limited to those that the Board is satisfied that the cost of financial commitments were prudently incurred.

     The revenue requirement for the additional investments would be determined through an OEB hearing, perhaps a cost-of-service review.  If the investment costs meet the

Board's approval, these costs could be apportioned over the projected output of the facility over a reasonable period of time.

     Now I would like to provide the IESO's response to the additional questions addressed to all participants regarding the variance accounts and the first proceeding.

      The first question was:  How will recovery of the amounts in the variance and deferral accounts, as contemplated by regulation 53/05, be addressed when using the methodology that we've proposed in the regulated CfD?

     In our initial submission, we had envisioned that a force majeure clause would address the issues captured by the variance and deferral accounts established by the

Regulation, because these events that we saw were largely events that would fall outside of OPG's control.

      The regulatory variance and deferral accounts will continue to address variations in costs and revenues not otherwise addressed by these force majeure clauses.


The final sets of questions:  Comment on the type of detail of information that would need to be filed to support the methodology that we're proposing, the regulated CfD.

     Well, assuming that the Board continues to provide the current prices as part of the CfD, the key data or informational requirements are those required to establish this prescribed quantity.  This data would include things like historic outage rates and availability factors for the nuclear facilities, the historic waterflow levels and runner river levels at the hydroelectric facilities, and perhaps information that would be pertinent for the determination of the input inflation factor.  


And somewhat related, in terms of the issues that would need to be addressed at the first proceeding, if the regulated CfD were adopted, we can envision that the first proceeding would focus on things like the determination of these historic outage rates and the availability factors at nuclear facilities; the appropriate percentage of capacity that would be applied; how to account for planned outages in the prescribed quantities; the input inflation factor determination; as well as defining force majeure incident events. 
And I guess it would also include the regulatory time frame.  

So these are the IESO's comments and responses to the questions.  That ends my presentation.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Brian.  I have a couple of questions.  What do you think that the optimal length of these contracts would be?

     MR. RIVARD:  I guess we were thinking at first three years seemed like a reasonable time period until additional information is put in place.

     MS. NOWINA:  And then it would be based on a cost-of-service proceeding and it would give us a revenue requirement, so you would envision in three years there would be another cost-of-service proceeding with a new revenue requirement and then new negotiations for new contracts?

     MR. RIVARD:  I think -- my counsel advises me that ...

     MS. NOWINA:  And anyone else, you can jump in if you want to, as well.

     MR. RIVARD:  I'll just finish off.  I think the point is that really would be up to the participant, depending on changes in the environment, whether or not there is a need for it.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Do you envision one overriding contract that would cover all the assets, or do you envision different contracts for nuclear and Hydro and even maybe different terms for them?

     MR. LYLE:  We would envision probably separate contracts for nuclear and hydroelectric assets.  

With respect to your question on the time frame within which the cost inputs would be reviewed, we were thinking similarly in the three- to five-year range.

     MS. NOWINA:  Is there any equivalent in the contract scenario with the off-ramps that you would get in an incentive-based regulation?  

I will get you, Mike.

     MR. LYLE:  We certainly envisage that, because under the statute, the applicant has a right to apply any time to adjust the payments and also the OEB has the ability at any time to move on its own motion to adjust the payments, that the contract would not overrule those statutory rights to be able at any time to come to the Board for a review. 


However, much like, you know, a PBR plan that goes three years, theoretically, the utility can come back at any time, but generally they stick with the three-year PBR plan.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. RUPERT:  We have the question for you, Mike, but first on the IESO ones.  I think I understand your proposal and why you call it a CfD.  It sounds like “C” in this case is really “contract,” to use your term, “construct,” if such a term exists. 

      So in your case, as proposed, it has none of the forward-contracting external market sort of features that the OPA's view of this ultimately -- or EMIG's, rather; right?  Yours sounds more like a variation of what we have today, with some production risk on OPG and with some recognition of outages, and so on.  But it seems - because I just want to make sure I have it right in my head - like today, with some [inaudible] for OPG, with payments set, it sounds kind of like the staff proposal, almost, the Iyer proposal.

    MR. RIVARD:  I think you're right.  It's maybe presented as an extension of what was in place today.  The important point being, though, that by prescribing a quantity, you link back the OPG's operations to the market drivers.  And we think that's very important for driving the efficiency outcomes of these facilities.

      To your second point, or to your point about the forward contracting, I think we also said in our submission that we'd give difference to those like the OPA for other policy objectives if they felt that the need to create liquidity through this forward contracting that was there. And we thought that this approach, by creating a financial contract, could easily be reported to the resale of a ‑‑ by the OPA.  It certainly didn't preclude the kind of forward sales that others are looking for.


MR. RUPERT:  Mike, on yours, I want to really understand how the process works, because I don't.


MR. LYLE:  Mm‑hm.


MR. RUPERT:  Just a simple example.  You said the full cost‑of‑service proceeding is sort of a starting point for this.


MR. LYLE:  Yes.


MR. RUPERT:  And let's just assume for the nuclear assets that a full cost‑of‑service proceeding were held and the price of $50 a megawatt hour emerged from that, with some intention to revisit it three years from now, say.  So that's been done.  


Now, where does the OPA come into the scene here, then?  So the Board has this cost‑of‑service proceeding.  What are you and OPG doing in bringing it in front of the Board at that point, and will the price that OPG realizes be $50 or a different number, depending upon what you guys agree to?  


MR. LYLE:  First of all, we believe that negotiations on the terms and conditions of the contracts could commence in parallel with the cost‑of‑service proceeding being underway.


We would ... just one moment.  


[Conferring]


Yes.  So we envisage that the contract, obviously, would address the sculpting of the payments and would address the performance requirements with respect to the expected output from OPG.


MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Let me put it another way.  I'm really struggling here, and I think, in fact, that in OPG's submission, they've referred to a public source, being probably your website, that the price that they received or others received in this auction you just held recently for one- or two- or three-year contracts, whatever it was, was $75 a megawatt hour.  Let's say that's the market.  


Is the price that you're going to negotiate with OPG for your contract a market price, or is it a cost‑of‑service price and you turn around, as the OPA with this cheap contract, I'll call it, and you assign it and sell it off to others outside, and we figure out what we do with the difference?  


I'm trying to figure out what OPG keeps and what you get.  

And the second part, if I can put it all together, is if we do establish the price that OPG gets on a cost-of-service process that has two- or three-year intervals between it, so the price will change, to what extent is the OPA's contracting with other parties going to be subject to the same kind of time frame? 


Presumably you're not going to want to sell off power to a marketer on a ten-year basis if the contract you have with OPG is subject to price change every three years.


MR. LYLE:  The cost of service would be the basis for the inputs into the formula, and therefore OPG would not be paid a market price.  Essentially, obviously, the payments would vary by hour, but essentially it would tend back towards the cost‑of‑service level.


With respect to the issue around forward contracts, I'm going to push that one over to Sheldon.


MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon Fulton.  

And let me just back it up one step, if I could, in that the contract represents a relationship in terms of payments, based on a formula, and they could be fixed payments plus some variable payments, and they may be subject to periodic review.  So the three‑year review would be there.


If you were selling at term that was longer than the three years, so if you were selling a five‑year or ten‑year piece ‑‑ sorry, the second part of what you're contracting with is an output from those assets, so I've got a cost and I've got an output.


What OPA would be then selling in the market is the output of that asset.  So it's selling energy into the market, more than likely a relationship where, at a higher price than what these costs are, the differences would then flow to global adjustment or whatever mechanism was there to capture that benefit back to the consumer, global adjustments to the current mechanism.


But it's a method to capture value of heritage assets ... [inaudible]


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me, the transcriber is having a hard time getting you.  


MR. FULTON:  It is a method of capturing value, so selling the contract forward let's you capture value in the forward market, rather than capture value of heritage contracts in the hourly market, but it's not required, as Mike said.  


It's still a decision that would need to be taken, depending on how the market is evolving.


MR. RUPERT:  And one other aspect of that, as I mentioned earlier, when OPG participated in your auction earlier this year, it was given - I don't know what you want to call it - a five-dollar tip, I guess, to participate.  It was set at $47, $50 for these amounts.


Under your approach, to what extent would we need to have a higher price to reflect some of that, I assume the production risks, kinds of things, that come out of the IESO?  You'll presumably want OPG to be committed to the quantity, somehow, in the contract that you have with them, and one would therefore expect that the price of that contract would have to be higher than some pure cost‑based price to reflect at least that factor, I assume.  


I mean, I'm just wondering how far apart would the cost‑of‑service kind of number that might come out of a Board proceeding be from the number that might be actually the contract price between you and OPG?


MR. FULTON:  Sorry, Sheldon, again.  And I don't see any reason that the pricing formula that's in the contract with OPG would result in a higher cost than a cost of service.  

In point of fact, it should be neutral or lower, because it's forward-looking, so it's tying an obligation to produce electricity to a formula that results in a cost, rather than backward-looking, which is after‑the‑fact reactive in terms of what costs were.


But even if it were neutral, you've got a cost for an output, and you've then got a second decision, which is, Do I sell that output into the forward market or do I simply flow that output into the hourly market or I can flow it through a mechanism such as Brian described?


So there are two different events.  One of them is to take the output, sell it, and capture the value of the heritage contract, if you will, which is the difference between that price, whether it's an hourly price or a day‑ahead price or a three‑year price, and what's my cost?  What's the compensation back to OPG for the delivery of that?


Within that, you can also put in a set of incentives or operational efficiencies that encourage them to exceed the contract, if you will.


MS. NOWINA:  So following up on that, do you envision that those incentives would be something that would be ordered by the Board to put in your contract, or something that the OPA would negotiate or the IESO would suggest based on their market experience?


MR. FULTON:  At the end of it, they would certainly be ordered by the Board.  I think they would be part of that parallel negotiation, or, if you will, there's kind of three events going on.  There's a cost model, which is cost of service; there's an incentive operational discussion; and then there's the contract terms and conditions.  Then all three of those get brought back together.  


The end of that is the opportunity to sell that energy into the forward market to create an incentive [inaudible] cost compensation, but the decision would still be the Board decision as to which, if any, or all of those three they would pursue.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Then to follow up on one of the other points of discussion with Bill, we were talking about the premium that the OPG got in a recent auction.  That kind of premium wouldn't be necessary, I assume, because in the cost‑of‑service case, we would have evaluated the risks in the ‑‑ that OPG faced and set the revenue requirement at the appropriate level?


MR. FULTON:  That's correct.  That premium was a function of need for OPG to move from a mechanism which essentially was settling like a CfD against an hourly market to a settlement against a forward position.  So, in essence, they had one contract which was the $48, or $47 contract, and now we were asking them to sell forward and, in essence, take on some risk.  The $5 compensated for that risk.  That risk wouldn't exist in the situation, because you're not substituting one contract mechanism for another contract mechanism.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you.

     MR. RUPERT:  And just one last question - is my mike on?  Yes - on quantities.  The IESO has talked about the quantities, and I wanted to get a sense from you.  I don't know the right numbers, but maybe I'll look to my right.  I'm assuming the capacity of the nuclear assets and the hydroelectric –- let’s say 10,000 megawatts.  Is that right?  


What's the total of the nukes and the Hydro?

     MR. BARRETT:  It's in the neighbourhood of about 60 terawatt hours.

     MR. RUPERT:  Well, whatever the capacity, the question is that's a big amount, and is OPA suggesting that this approach that's being proposed would be for all that energy or all that capacity?

     MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon again.  And when you say “approach,” if you are referring to the regulatory contract mechanism, yes.  All MW would be within the regulatory contracts, at least one for Hydro and one for --

     MR. RUPERT:  So the OPA would be sitting there being long, a lot of energy after this is over.

     MR. FULTON:  And I think that's a bit of a misperception in that it's not OPA.  The contract would be similar to the current contracts that OPA has with some of the gas generators, where the contract calls for them to have a dispatch mechanism and a payment mechanism.  And then they simply operate in the forward market.  OPA doesn't tell them when to buy gas, doesn't tell them when to --

     MR. RUPERT:  No, no, no.  All I'm saying, Sheldon -- I just want to be clear.  I understood that you were saying that initially a contract between the OPG and OPA; you would then do contracts with all kinds of other people who want the energy.

      My question is:  This is a lot of energy; it's a lot of capacity.  Does the OPA believe there is an appetite out there today to suddenly turn -- whatever MW it is, out in the market, and do this in one fell swoop?  And if not, what is your recommendation of whatever piece of OPG's output is not covered by this?  

     MR. FULTON:  I would not look at trying to sell all of that in one fell swoop to the market.  But part of the other aspects of what OPA is looking at is the potential for load-serving entities, putting more of the load side into forward contracts, more stable contracts from a pricing perspective.  That needs a reciprocal "sell" side of the market.

      Ultimately, you need to get, as you move through time, as much of the energy into the market as you can.  But you want to keep balance.  You don't want to have more buyers than sellers and more sellers than buyers, because you'll distort the price.

      So releasing it or how fast it gets released to the market is really a matter of looking, you know, what's on the other side of that and what do I need to do to keep the scales balanced so I've got competition for the buy side, as well as the sell side.

     MR. RUPERT:  But my question would be, though:  You, the OPA, would belong all of this energy, and the question -- the question of pace and how it goes would be the decision of the OPA, as to who to sell it to and when, but that the regulatory construct -- or would it be done in pieces where there would be some other part of OPG's production that would have to be subject to some other process here at the Board to set a price on?

     MR. FULTON:  Ultimately, I think the decision is always your decision; it's always a Board decision.

      I think it makes sense to put it out there in pieces, rather than all at once.  If I look at the assets, the Hydro assets have some elements of it that are probably more amenable to the current market that’s there.  They've got some more flexibility in terms of when they can generate, and we need more peaking capacity; we need to compete with imports.  And so I probably would look at putting them out there sooner.  But we haven't made any decisions with respect to it.  That was just a market perspective.

      But if you were looking at doing it and staging it, which is, I think, the correct process, then, yes, you would need to create a contractual obligation, and then taking those pieces into the forward market would be on a structured basis through time.

     MR. LYLE:  Well, just to recap our proposal, it is our proposal not to put any of this power into the forward market until such time as the OEB is satisfied with appropriate timing with respect to stated evolution.

     MS. NOWINA:  But it is your proposal that all of the power would be in a contract between OPG and OPA from the beginning, whether you put it into a forward market or not?

     MR. LYLE:  In a contract that's subject to OEB regulation.  All of the prescribed asset OPG.

     MR. RUPERT:  I've used up my supplementary.

     MR. LONG:  We might have a point on that.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, and Bill and I could probably continue to ask questions for the remainder of the time, and we probably shouldn’t.  So I will take questions from others, or go ahead.  

Sandy, do you want to comment on that?

     MS. O'CONNOR:  When you were talking over here with

Mike and Sheldon, it was a lot about a forward market contracting.  And there are a number of ways it can be done, but another example we can give you are the CES contracts, which are just a contract that basically you still bid your energy into the market.  But it's not a forward market; it's a spot market.  And it just regulates the revenue from that contract.  It’s a much simpler process, and you don’t need to worry about what happens in a forward-type market process or a strip auction.

     MS. NOWINA:  I'll take questions now.  

Mark?

     MR. RODGER:  Mark Rodger, from AMPCO.  I just want to clarify.  In the discussion of a few moments ago, there was talk about potentially separate contracts for different participants.  I just want to make sure I understand.  The OPA's position seems to be that whether it's one or more contracts, the counter-parties are OPG and the OPA.  

Is that the same understanding from the IESO, that those would be the two parties, or would it be potentially under the CFD’s OPG and any potential other counter-parties?  Could be ABC Power marketing could be another generator?  Or are all these contracts also going to be with OPA?

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry, do you have your mike on?  And maybe you can state your name first for the transcriber.

     MR. RIVARD:  My name is Brian Rivard from the IESO.  

I think what we had thought is that the contracts would be settled much the way they are today.  The only real difference really is that there's this assigned quantity. 

So in that regard, the way the settlement process works today, from speaking to the settlement people at the IESO, is OPG operates and the IESO knows what its prescribed price is.  


The IESO in real-time essentially adjusts the settlement statement so that that is the price that OPG will receive. 


Any differences between that price and some regulated in the -- sorry, and the market price are automatically set aside to go into the global adjustment account.  I think that's what we had in mind as to how it would continue.

     MR. RODGER:  My question wasn't so much on the settlement mechanism but who the actual counter-party was. 

Let's say I was a power marketer.  Could I have an opportunity to enter into one of these contracts, rather than have it simply be a contract between the OPG and OPA?  In other words, would the process itself be competitive as to who the counter-party would be?  Might be OPA at the end of the day; might be ABC Power Marketing.      


MR. RIVARD:  I'm not certain that's the case.   I don't think that there would be any other party.  The prices would be set through regulation, and the adjustments between that and the market price would be, in a sense, in the global adjustment fund for ‑‑ for the ratepayers, and used as according to the global adjustment fund.  


Now, if the OPA decided to a secondary sale of these contracts, sell them, then the buyers in the secondary market could be anybody.


MR. RODGER:  So in that circumstance, how could end‑use customers get access to some of the low prices, let's say, for example, out of baseload nuclear?  In that scenario, if contracts were further parcelled out, couldn't it be that end‑use customers could pay substantially more than a cost of service for this heritage asset output?


MR. RIVARD:  Under a cost of service, I'd imagine that there would be a price set for the nuclear asset, and then that price would be fixed and this would be no different in that way, so ...


MR. MURPHY:  But if I'm a marketer buying from you --


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Larry, can you turn your mike on and say your name?


MR. MURPHY:  Brian Murphy from AMPCO.  

If I'm a marketer buying that from you and I'm buying it at a regulated price, I can sell it forward and get whatever the market price is, so now I'm the beneficiary of the price difference.  The difference is not going into any global adjustment; is that right?


MR. RIVARD:  If you buy that contract, that's correct.


MR. MURPHY:  So what you're saying is, under this system, forget about allocating the global adjustment across the board to all consumers.  It's a function of who contracts with you; is that right?


MR. RIVARD:  I think what I'm saying is it would be exactly as it is today.  When the prices are above the prescribed price, there is an adjustment made to the global adjustment count and the consumers will have the opportunity for that rebate.  It would continue the same way going forward.


MR. MURPHY:  But the consumer is -- if I'm contracting with you, the consumer is me.


MR. RIVARD:  Yes.


MR. MURPHY:  And so I get all of the global adjustment?


MR. RIVARD:  As today, under the current regulation, I guess the government or on behalf of the consumers contracted to go with the OPG, and the way that the consumers get the benefits of that contract assumes a global adjustment.


MR. MURPHY:  So that would be me?


MR. RIVARD:  That would be the consumers, the ratepayers.


MR. MURPHY:  So, no, it would be me, as a single  buyer.


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, who are "you", just for ‑‑ 


MR. MURPHY:  I'm a single marketer entering into a contract to buy power, nuclear power ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  I think that there's a bit of conversation going like this, as far as I understand it.  I don't think Brian's talking about contracts.  I think he's talking about the situation as it stands today.



MR. MURPHY:  I'm asking about contracts.  I'm asking about his contracting proposal.


MR. RUPERT:  Bill Rupert.  

As I heard the answer before when we discussed, there is no contract.  It is exactly what we have today, with some adjustments to it, one being to put a quantity ceiling on it, one to put some production risk on OPG, and some other things, but it's no different ‑‑ I shouldn't say “no different.”  It's exactly what we have today, with a few tweaks; i.e., there's no contract between OPG or anybody else.  It's just a restatement of the way in which the IESO makes payments to OPG every month.  

Is that a fair summary?  Have I got that right or not?


MR. RIVARD:  You say it better than I.


MS. NOWINA:  Which is not to say that all is the OPA  --


MR. MURPHY:  It's a different way of doing physical bilateral contracts?  


MR. RUPERT:  I think it's a different way of doing what we're doing under regulation 53/05 today, with some enhancements to look at some issues the IESO is interested in, in terms of dispatch efficiency or whatever else.  I don't sense it's a contract at all in the same way that the OPA's talking about a contract between the OPG and OPA and then subsequently the OPA marketer or whoever contracts.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.  Can I change my direction to the OPA, then?


MS. NOWINA:  We'll go on to somebody else.  

Michael Penny.


MR. PENNY:  This is a clarification question.  What's I guess is not clear to me from either the written presentation or what you said today, under the OPA model, there is this CfD component in which OPG is at risk for the cost of supplying power if OPG's output falls below the established quantity.


MR. LYLE:  What we're proposing is ‑‑ 


MS. NOWINA:  Is your mike on, Mike?


MR. LYLE:  Yes, it is.  I'm sorry, I'm suffering from a cold, so I'm losing my voice.  What we're proposing is that the contract address the allocation of risk, subject to whatever parameters are put on that by the Board.  

Obviously there would be a force majeure provision, and the payment mechanism would address what risk OPG would incur if it failed to meet certain performance levels.


MR. PENNY:  Sorry, I'm still not clear.  Are you saying that the issue of whether there's production risk is up for grabs in the negotiation, or are you saying that there is production risk and the only issue that's to be negotiated or otherwise dealt with is the compensation for that risk?


MR. LYLE:  I think we're of the view that there ought to be some production risk.  But, as we've mentioned before, we are anticipating that the Board would want to put some parameters around the negotiation before the negotiation commenced.


MR. PENNY:  That's helpful.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Who's next?  Tom Adams?


MR. ADAMS:  A question of clarification for TransAlta.  You've identified in your presentation a number of benefits that you see associated with the regulatory contracts approach, and one of them is that the cost of overruns are at the risk of the generator and not at the risk of the ratepayer.  And a second, another area of benefits that you've identified, is that it helps to control the abuse of market power.  And I want to get your clarification on both of those.  

Given OPG's special status, how exactly do you see the ratepayer indemnified under a regulatory contract approach?  And, second, with regard to the market power abuse that you see, normally in a regulatory context, when the concept of market power abuse is bandied around, it normally means somebody that has the ability to restrict output and drive up price.  But maybe you have a different definition in mind.  If you could clarify those two points, it would help.


MS. O'CONNOR:  Sandy O'Connor.  

So the first one, when you were talking about consumer protection and cost overrun, the difference I see between a contract and a cost of service is that under a contract, really the revenue stream is set and it's up to you to manage the costs within that.  So that would be what would fall to OPG under that regime.


If you compare that to a cost‑of‑service regime, basically the costs are -- once they're set, the risk is basically on the ratepayer.  So there is cost overrun ‑‑ or once the project is approved, if there's cost overruns or whatever, all those risks fall on the ratepayer.  So that's kind of the contrast I see between the two, if that makes sense to you.


MR. ADAMS:  No, it doesn't, but I'll argue it later.


MS. O'CONNOR:  Okay.  And you're talking about OPG's special status here, I guess; is that what you are saying?


MR. ADAMS:  You've got a Crown corporation that's got no place else for its costs to go, but I have your clarification and I have your understanding.


MS. O'CONNOR:  I hear your point.  In some respects, by putting it into a contract, if the revenue stream is fixed and apportioning the management of the costs, it creates that level playing field I'm talking about.  So hopefully I'm competing on a more level playing field with a Crown corporation than I would be otherwise.


MR. ADAMS:  And with respect to market power, what do you mean by the term "abuse of market power"?


MS. O'CONNOR:  So I think there's issues in market power which are acknowledged.  I'm not going to say there's abuse, to be clear, but I think there's other issues we need to address in this market around access to capital, access to sites, things like that, that can be addressed more effectively through a contract, and they can be, I think, through a cost‑of‑service mechanism or an IR mechanism, pure cost of service.


MR. ADAMS:  So access to capital was one example you gave.  OPG now operates under rules where OEFC will directly fund its investment in the Beck tunnel.  That's an access-to-capital issue.  You don't have that kind of relationship with any kind of funding agency?


MS. O'CONNOR:  Right.


MR. ADAMS:  You think that this process is going to be able to remedy that deficiency?


MS. O'CONNOR:  I think we can examine it and discuss it.  To be honest with you, Tom, I don't have perfect answers to all this, but I think there are more tools available in a contracting-type mechanism than there might be through other ones to at least try and address some of these things. 
     MS. NOWINA:  Other questions. 

     MR. SHEPHERD:  After all this complicated stuff, I want to ask a mundane question.  I guess this is for you,

Mike, but anyone else who's proposing this can answer it, as well.

      We have some people who want to have a cost-of-service proceeding first before we set new prices, and there's some concern about delay, and a possible solution is to sort of work it in slowly bit by bit.

     As I understand the regulatory contract, first you have to have a full cost-of-service proceeding.  You have to cover everything and get a number for the revenue requirement.  You can't do it unless you have that number.

      And then after that, you then have a negotiation between OPA and OPG as to how that number gets paid, under what terms.  I take it I've got that sort of right.  The two can happen in parallel, but at the end of the day that's where you have to end up.

     MR. LYLE:  Basically.  I think we can argue over to what extent you have to address all of the issues in a cost-of-service hearing first or whether you accept some of them as going in, such as the ROE number.  I mean, we don't have an opinion on that.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  But in terms of all the, like, O&M, and capital costs, and all that sort of stuff, that all has to be dealt with.

     MR. LYLE:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Because the generator has to know that they're going to recover their costs in this contract; right?

     MR. LYLE:  Agreed.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then my first question is -– if I understand that right, then my first question is:  How do you propose that we set the prices in the meantime while that's going on?  That could be a couple of years.  In the meantime, what are the prices?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, a couple of points.  First I'd say that if we're not able to come up with the regulatory contracts model fully approved before the April 1 or March 1, 2008 date, you could put in place a cost-of-service model on an interim basis.

     Alternatively, as Richard pointed out, there's no obligation in the statute for new rates to be set right on

April 1, 2008.

     So I think this is some time to ensure that we get this right.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And the bottom line, then, is until you have full cost-of-service completed, you have the current numbers?  Unchanged?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, that's one approach.  I guess what I'm saying is I'm not sure that you need full cost-of-service completed.  I think some of it you can take from some of the assumptions around existing numbers.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then my supplementary question, which probably doesn't follow the parliamentary rules, because it's not quite the same topic.

     MS. NOWINA:  Is it an entirely different topic?

     MR. LYLE:  This is question number 10.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  My supplementary question is:  You have the cost of service that's a regular cost-of-service proceeding.  Everybody participates.  But that only deals with revenue requirements.  And then the next stage, how it gets paid, that part, it sounds very much like an ADR in which only OPA gets to play.  And so I guess I want to understand:  Why would the only OPA be involved in that part of the process, rather than have everybody involved?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, it seems to us that the only other alternative is that only OPG gets to play.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why?

     MR. LYLE:  That you leave it to OPG to come forward with the filing based on their views and the appropriate payment structure, and we're suggesting that you're going to get to a better result from the public interest perspective if you have someone with a public interest mandate negotiating what OPG is going to file.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Basically, on the ratepayer's behalf?

     MR. LYLE:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thanks.

     MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else want to ... Richard?

     MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you.  This is just on the regulatory contract issue.  And maybe for Mike, I think embedded in any contract between the two parties will be some trade-off between risks and benefits from the perspective of each side; that at the end of the day they are satisfied that -- taking the contract as a whole, they're satisfied with it.

     The question I have for you is that when that contract goes before the Board for its analysis, isn't the Board put in an impossible position, that essentially it's a bit of a cram-down on the Board in the sense that they're left with a take-it-or-leave-it proposition?  Because if they reject one element of the contract or vary one element of the contract, isn't that going to undermine the balance between the perceived risks and benefits that have been allocated by the parties?  I mean, either the Board is put in a box or the parties are put in a box.  Is that fair?

     MR. LYLE:  Well, the first thing I'd say is that we're proposing a couple of items to try to attempt to make sure that negotiating parties do not go too far off base.

     First of all, we'd propose that the Board have a role through a transparent process of setting some parameters around the negotiations.  And then we'd propose that, in the course of the negotiations, that OPG and OPA come back to the Board and to intervenors and provide them with an update of the status of negotiations with the intention that if, in the view of the Board, we are going too far off track, that they can pull us back at that point in time.

     Finally, when you get to the regulatory proceeding to review the terms and conditions of the contract, I think the Board is in the same position as it always is.  When it receives an application from a party, it's got to decide whether or not it should accept those terms and conditions or not, and it may vary some provisions to have applicant's proposal.

      I don't really see why that's different than a normal proceeding.

     MS. NOWINA:  Other questions?  Go ahead.

     MR. RUPERT:  Mike, I'll direct this to you, although you may not have a view and it may be a bit of a second-level position, but I wanted to get your reaction.  

Say you're an end-user, like one of Larry's clients at AMPCO, and so current structure is you're paying the spot price for the power but you're getting the global adjustment through every month, and you ultimately get the rebate every quarter, I guess from OPG, and you know, to the extent we know anything about this system, that if the high spot price is in a month, that would lead to a higher global adjustment, and if there was low spot prices that month, there would be a lower global adjustment, generally speaking.

     MR. LYLE:  Mm-hm.

     MR. RUPERT:  With your approach, it strikes me that the amount of the global adjustment for whatever the term of your contract is, three years or five years, is frozen the moment you sell it forward to someone outside

To be simple about it, you buy it from OPG at 55 and you sell it at 75, so there's $20 a megawatt hour for the term of the contract that's frozen.  So that goes into the global adjustments, I think I heard you say. 


So that is really freezing at one moment in time the global adjustment, and so will, to some extent, divorce the spot prices in any month that an industrial pays from the amount of the global adjustment, because the global adjustment might have been determined three years ago when you sold the power at a certain price.

      Doing this on a small basis, as happened with the OPG auction, is one thing; but doing it on a massive basis, it seems to me, could quite significantly erode any relationship between spot prices in a month and the global adjustment.  

Is that an issue that you’ve thought about?  Do you have any concerns on that or thoughts on that?

     MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon again.  And, yes, Bill, a couple of thoughts.

      You've made the presumption that the industrial would be looking at being a spot price-taker.

     MR. RUPERT:  Yeah.

     MR. FULTON:  Through that duration.  And at a minimum, what he now knows is what his fixed global adjustments is going to be, assuming these contracts have sold forward.  But if I were an industrial, I would probably be more inclined to want to fix both pieces, so I would want to fix my forward price, as well as my global adjustment potentially at the same time as a buyer of that forward contract.  And in Alberta that's what happened.  A large number of industrials actually bought the forward PPA and enjoyed the benefit of the payment that came as a result of that.  So they knew exactly what their position was going to be going forward.


But if, for other reasons, the industrial wanted to be a spot price-taker, he's at least better off because he knows what his fixed component of global adjustment is going to be.  If he doesn't want to take spot price risk, then he can be a participant as a buyer in the forward part of the market.


MR. RUPERT:  It strikes me, and I'm just ‑‑ I don't know, but if you would do this in the sizes that you seem to contemplate, if you were to do this in several tranches to the point where you've sold forward to others a substantial part of OPG's output, it's kind of like a self‑fulfilling prophecy, because if there's no relationship between the global adjustment and the spot prices, then obviously an industrial going in would want to do a retail contract, one assumes.


So I'm just wondering to what extent you see this whole process driving someone to a decision to do contracting if you, in effect, through one transaction or a series of transactions essentially freeze the global adjustment for the next three or five years.  Is that, in effect, going to compel people to go out and do these contracts?


MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon again.  And I want to make, I guess, two comments.


One of them is the decision as to whether or not the output of these contracts is sold forward, and how much and how rapidly, is still a Board decision.  We're not advocating that you sign these contracts and then dump all that market ‑‑ or all that volume onto the market; although, the industrial might be happy if you did that.  But you have to, as I said, look at balancing it.  

But I guess my perspective is that you're always better off having certainty in terms of pricing, unless you want to take on spot price volatility; that there is only a relatively small portion of the load side of the market that, in fact, needs to have that short‑term price volatility.  


Most people are more interested in longer‑term price stability and longer-term price certainty that occurs.  

And if I might just make a side statement on that to Tom.  You had indicated the concern with market power is withholding and driving price up, but there's also a problem in reverse, which is dumping on a market.  And most market manipulation is actually dumping to drive the price down and drive out competitors, rather than artificially increase prices.


I simply make that as an observation, in that you have to be concerned about it on both sides.


Benefit of a contract, which you have a set of obligations and if the obligations are met, the payment stream follows the obligations.  So you remove the concern with short-term practices of either excess volume coming on the market or a withholding circumstance.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  

Any other questions?  Larry, we're already past time.


MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy.  

Just in response to that, I think industrials would much rather have the benefit of the covered prices, the rebated prices so the global adjustment is there, and knowing that's fixed, than doing our own hedges on the rest, so that we can determine how much we want to be subject to spot prices and how much we want to fix forward in the event that there's anybody out there willing to do a forward contract with us anymore.  We don't need the OPA to do that for us.


MS. NOWINA:  Not a question, but a comment, basically.  

Any other questions?  All right, thank you, everyone who was involved in that.  We will now break for 15 minutes and return at twenty minutes past 3:00, according to that clock.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 3:05 p.m. 
     --- On resuming at 3:20 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Could we be seated again, please.

     We're on to our last segment, OPG, and so I'll turn it over to Andrew.


PRESENTATION BY MR. BARRETT:

     MR. BARRETT:  Thank you very much.  For those of you who don't know me, my name is Andrew Barrett …  


Let's start again, then.  For those of you who don't know me, my name is Andrew Barrett, and I'm the vice president of regulatory affairs and corporate strategy at OPG.  And let me start off by saying I think we've had a very interesting day so far and an even more interesting afternoon.

     Can I have the next slide, please.

     I want to start my remarks by focussing on the criteria that we brought to bear in considering what model made sense for OPG.  And the three that we thought made the most sense were effectiveness, transparency, and regulatory efficiency.

      From our perspective, effectiveness is really about establishing just and reasonable payment amounts, as the statute calls for.  

From our perspective again, just and reasonable payment amounts are about the provision of an opportunity to recover the costs of operating, maintaining and developing our prescribed assets.

      Now also, it’s an opportunity to earn a risk-appropriate rate of return.  So a return that reflects business, financial, and operational risks of operating these prescribed assets.

      We should also encourage cost efficiency -- we don't deny that -- and it should provide operational incentives to the extent that that's necessary.  

A perfect example of that, I would suggest, is the hydroelectric incentive we have in the interim rate regulation, which gives us proper price signals in terms of the offering of our peaking hydroelectric generation.

      In terms of the criteria of transparency, we understand that there is an appetite to get information about the company's operations and costs.  I find that perfectly understandable.  We think whatever model is adopted should ensure that people have access to information in order to assess for themselves whether the payment amounts are just and reasonable.  And stakeholders should have a fair opportunity to participate in that process, selection of the issues that would be addressed and the final determination of those payment amounts.

      We also think regulatory efficiency is important, and others have spoken to this as well.  But we see this very much as a second order consideration.  We don't see regulatory efficiency, for example, trumping effectiveness.

      At the end of the day, this is about setting just and reasonable payment amounts.  Within that confines, we should look at doing that in an efficient way.

      A number of people have spoken about market compatibility.  We don't believe that is a criterion in terms of the selection process for the very simple reason that we think that whatever -– whichever model is adopted, there can be -- it could be market compatibility in terms of the operation in these assets, but we don't think it's an issue that distinguishes the selection of any of these models.

      These are baseload plants.  They operate under the market and under the Market Rules in the same way that all other generation operates.  There have been no issues did during term that these assets have been subject to regulation, in terms of their operation in the market.

     Next slide.  Thank you.  

After reflecting on this criteria, we came to a proposal which I'd like to talk to you about this afternoon, and that is a limited issues cost-of-service proposal.  Let me just explain how I think -- how we think that would work.

      What we would propose to do is file early in the New

Year a summary filing of our revenue requirement, consistent with the filing guidelines which will emerge from a subsequent process this fall.  With that filing, we would have a proposal for a process for dealing with the issues that aren't subject to the hearing.  I'll talk a little about that later.

      Once parties have that information, we would foresee an issues determination process.  People would have an opportunity to review the materials that have been provided.  We expect that Technical Conferences where people could ask questions of OPG witnesses would be useful to help in the understanding.  And this is really all about identifying what are the key drivers for OPG's costs for the forward test year.  And we expect through that process that people would see fairly clearly what those key drivers are, the important issues that we talked about that people have to review.

      We expect that or we propose that we have an Issues

Conference to see if the parties could, after reviewing that material, agree on what the key issues are in terms of the hearing; but, failing an agreement, there would be an opportunity for parties to make submissions to the Board at an Issues Day, and ultimately the Board would issue an order setting out a list of issues that would be dealt with in the hearing, and a process for determining the values of all of the remaining issues that wouldn't be subject to the hearing.

      For those issues that are to be subject to a hearing, we would later in the year make a full evidentiary filing on those issues.  

What we would propose is a 21-month test year -- basically, the balance of 2008 and 2009.  And we're very anxious to get back on a calendar-year cycle in terms of our regulatory activities.  That's how we do our financial planning; that's how we do our budgeting; that's how we operate our business.  So that would be very helpful to us.

      We would suggest after that first 21-month filing that we would move on to a two-year cycle, so a hearing not every year but every two years.  And that would balance, in our mind, the issue of effectiveness with regulatory efficiency and reduce some of the burden on the Board and stakeholders.

      We expect that we'd have the fairly standard discovery process that we have in one of these hearings, a settlement conference where we can perhaps settle some of the issues, and ultimately, at the hearing, a Board order setting new payment amounts that meet the “just and reasonable standard.” 

  
 The next slide, please.

      In reflecting upon the issues that have been the subject of this consultation, what model made sense, we thought about a range of options.  But in the end, we could think of no other way to make sure that the payment amounts are just and reasonable other than by going through a review of costs.  Our proposal for a limited issues cost-of-service proposes a pragmatic process for doing that.  
Also, we understand that people have an interest in understanding the OPG's business.  Going through this type of review will help people understand the OPG's business.

      As I said before, one of the key criteria is clearly transparency.  And this process of explaining our cost, presenting information about our costs, will allow for people to develop that understanding about our costs, capital plans and operations, and it allows properly for the participation of all parties.

      And from our perspectives, it's a very flexible one. 

It allows to us establish an appropriate base, and where we move from there, I think, is going to be a function of circumstances down the road.  


One of the key issues facing OPG is we're really on the cusp of some fairly important decisions, particularly around our nuclear business.  We've been asked refurbishing Pickering B; we've been asked to look at nuclear new build.  And depending on how those decisions go, our nuclear business, our regulated business will be on very different paths.  Sitting here today, and next year, we will not know with certainty which way those decisions are going to go.  

So it's very difficult, for example, for the company to lock into any kind of long-term incentive regime or long-term regulatory with that level of business uncertainty.

      But as some of these issues get resolved and some of these decisions get taken, we can potentially, if it makes sense, move from a cost-of-service model to something else, perhaps incentive regulation, if we see stability down the road.

      Next slide, please.


 As you would have seen from our submissions earlier, we don't believe that it makes sense to start with incentive regulation at this point.  We think you have to go through the exercise of establishing an appropriate base.

      You have to go through the exercise of reviewing our costs, our production forecasts, examining the issue of ROE, in order to establish just and reasonable payments.  Can't see any way around that.  

In attempting to go to IR without going through that exercise, we would submit it is not consistent with the Board's practices or regulatory precedents.  And some have suggested that one of the advantages of this model is that there would be some time savings, hearing savings.  


We would say that a hearing to set productivity indices, inflation indices, off-ramps, adjustment mechanisms would be every bit as onerous as cost of service, and I think as this process has gone on, there's been a bit of an acknowledgement from most of the participants, if not all of the participants, that some kind of cost‑of‑service exercise makes sense in almost all of the models.


And, again, in terms of operational efficiency, we think that can be part of a cost‑of‑service regime, as evidenced by the interim regulation that we have.  So it's not an exclusive feature of IR, by any means.


Next slide, please.  


We've heard this afternoon there's a number of parties that advocate regulatory contracts.  And the regulatory contract proposal, quite candidly, I heard a number of different proposals this afternoon, people advocating CfDs.  There were people advocating PPAs.  There were people advocating CES contracts.  Although it's not entirely clear exactly what this model is, from our perspective, it's only really at the concept stage and would create fairly significant risks for the company to move to something which is untried, experimental, and not very well developed at this point.  


And not to be disrespectful, but, quite candidly, it seems to us, anyway, that some of the detail of these proposals were being developed in real‑time as we were sitting here this afternoon.


So it's much too early, in our submission, to adopt this type of approach.


Again, as we've talked about, one of the criteria that we have identified was transparency.  We think that the regulatory contract model doesn't match up very well against this criteria, quite frankly.  We think to make these work there would have to be a negotiation process between two parties.  Negotiating on a contract between parties is difficult enough.  I can't see how other parties could effectively participate in that process.  And if it's only two parties, then it can't be a wholly transparent process.


We've also heard that it might have several steps to it.  It might have a cost‑of‑service review at the front end.  It might have attached to that some kind of hearing process to establish certain terms and conditions of the agreement.  And there would be a negotiation phase.  


Now, it's been suggested, I think, that some of these things could happen in parallel.  Quite frankly, we don't see how that could work.  So we would see them as operating in sequence, and then, after that second step, we're into a third step where the contract has to come back to the Board again for some kind of a review.


Now, it's been suggested by some that these contracts might be for a three‑year term.  I would submit that if we have to go through those three steps, it will take us three years just to get to the contract, never mind having a three‑year term.


So I guess in summary, we would take the view that it seems to be very much a work in progress at this point.  

There's a lot of unanswered questions.  We would urge the Board to hold off with any terms of regulatory contracts at this point.  


Next slide, please.


I wanted to address this afternoon just some issues around a particular type of regulatory contract.  That's the CfD model that's been advocated by some.  And just to start with, the concept, because OPG in earlier forms of its existence was in the business of selling CfD, so we have some experience with how this operates.  


Typically, when you're selling this type of contract, you're looking at expectations of market prices, because appended to a CfD is an obligation that if you can't deliver the power, to buy it out of the marketplace.  


You have to think about marketplaces setting your strike price, because that is where you have your risk.  You would have an expectation of forward market prices, and then you would add to that a risk premium in order to deal with the risks associated with having to deliver against an uncertain forecast.


Some of the parties who have talked about CfDs have ignored this pricing approach.  They've suggested, Well, the strike price could be a cost‑of‑service number.  At the same time, to the extent that we have this obligation to buy out of the market to make good on the quantity, it would give us a huge, unhedged financial risk around that marketplace.  


Some of the discussion this afternoon suggested that you could just push this risk away, and we would submit that's just not possible.  You either have to hedge ‑‑ have to limit the exposure in terms of the contract.  If you do that sufficiently so that we could ‑‑ that a cost‑of‑service amount would be the appropriate payment amount, it's not a CfD anymore, and if you want it to be a CfD, give us that market price risk against specified quantity.  


Then it's only fair, in our submission, for you to give us fair compensation for taking on that risk.


Quite frankly, we think that those kind of prices would be much higher than what would be publicly acceptable for regulated assets.


MS. HARE:  Excuse me.  People can't hear you.


MR. BARRETT:  I'm sorry.  I'll try and speak up.


And just to kind of close off a summary point about regulatory contracts, when we look at the regulation, we look at the establishment of a hybrid market.  We see things somewhat differently.  We see these particular assets were taken out of the market and made subject to regulation.  


Some of the parties advocating for regulatory contracts would suggest to you that the pre-eminent objective through this exercise of looking at the regulated assets is examining how they would support the market.  We would suggest that it doesn't make sense in the context of a deliberate step to remove these assets from the market.  


Clearly, it would be intended that the market would not be the most important aspect of the operation of these facilities.


Some have suggested that there are concerns about market power, and, quite frankly, we reject those concerns.  These are baseload assets.  They're not price setters.  They're price takers.  


We don't withhold supply.  In fact, we have a licence condition in our OEB generation licence which requires us to offer in all available generation.  So we don't have the ability to withhold supply, because of this licence condition.


Some have suggested that there's an issue of interaction between these assets and the operation of the market.  I would submit that there is no issue.  These assets have been in the market since they've been subject to the interim regulation, and there hasn't been any problems, and there's no reason to speculate that there would be problems in the future.


In closing, if we were subject to a CfD, we would face very significant financial risks, and those are risks that we would either have to be compensated for or find some way through the contracting mechanism to hedge, and it's not clear to us how that could be done.


Next slide, please.  


Just in conclusion, then, on the basis of the three criteria that we identified at the outset - that's effectiveness, transparency, and regulatory efficiency - we think that the limited issues cost‑of‑service approach is the best approach.


We think that it will provide the Board and intervenors with information about our operations.  It will allow people an opportunity to participate effectively in the process, and it establishes an appropriate and fair start point for any future treatment of ‑‑ regulatory treatment for those assets.


Thank you for your attention.  I'm happy to take any questions.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. RUPERT:  Just a couple of questions, Andrew.  You mentioned at the beginning your plans, or at least your look at nuclear refurbishments or whatever, and I know as to other projects in Hydro that the company has in place, I'm not sure to what extent other Hydro projects will be included or not in future regulation.


MR. RATTRAY:  I'm sorry, can you speak up, please?     
MR. RUPERT:  How's that?  My mike might not have been

on.  Okay.  I'll lean closer.

      My question concerns your plans on nuclear and the status of those in relation to the time frame you've laid out for your filing in the 21-month period and all that.

     As you know, the regulations talk about, in the Board's first order, 6(2)3:

“In its first order, the Board has to ensure that OPG recovers costs and firm commitments incurred for investments related to and refurbishment, increasing output added capacity, as long as or if the cost of financial commitments were within the project budgets approved for that purpose by the board of directors of OPG before the making of the Board's first order under section 78(1).”  


I want to understand how you interpret this paragraph, and the date -- the timing of this, and how this would relate to your current timing proposal.

      So the date of the first order under your proposed timeline would be January 1, 2008; am I correct about that?  That is what your timeline had applied?

     MR. BARRETT:  Well, with deference to the regulation, the rate order would not be effective until at least April 1, 2008.

     MR. RUPERT:  Okay.  Well, let's take April 1, then.

     MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

     MR. RUPERT:  Thank you.  So you file a bunch of material at some time in 2007, as you're proposing, and then there's a process underway.  

Do you read this particular section of the regulation to say that at any time up to midnight, March 31st, 2008, the OPG comes in with an approved project budget from its board of directors, that those costs are to be recovered in the rates?  I'm just trying to understand how the status of your plans and where they maybe will affect the extent of work required on capital projects on this first rate order.

     MR. BARRETT:  Well, there are a number of issues that are in your question.  Let me try and address them in parts.  And if I've left something out, I'd ask you to pursue me at the end.

      We do envision in this filing providing information about our capital budgets.  So to the extent that we have capital plans, that would be to a feature of the filing -- with reference to 6(2) of the regulation, or the section that you referenced, rather.

      We had understood that to really be about not revisiting history, not going back in time, so to the extent that we have made commitments or made expenditures and prior to the Board deciding, for example, that a particular project was not appropriate, that we would be allowed to recoup those costs for those commitments.  But to the extent that the project had costs in later years that hasn't been incurred, there were no firm commitments on them; then obviously the Board would be free not to include that within a future revenue requirement.

      That's how I understand that particular part of the regulation.

     MR. RUPERT:  If there's a Board hearing underway sometime in 2007, under your cost-of-service approach, it is looking at the 21-month period you've talked about.

     MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

     MR. RUPERT:  And over that period you'll be spending presumably money on capital projects of some sort or other, and I would assume be filing something that you would want to get a return on whatever projects are coming on stream or whatever.  I'm just not sure I understand which ones will -- I'll call it “getting a pass” under this section of the regulation, versus those that are kind of in your capital expenditure plans but haven't received this requisite approval by the board of directors. 


Maybe that's more my question, is:  What does this paragraph say?  What kind of approval or process from your board of directors would get a project this kind of easier review than a full capital project?

     MR. BARRETT:  I would suggest, and again, taking a layperson's reading of the regulation, and if it hasn't been approved by our Board, it's a project off in the distance, still in the development phase; that it wouldn't be subject to that particular section, because there would be no approval from our board of directors.

      Now, if there's a project, for example, which has received that approval, and that project, for example, is underway during the course of the proceeding, prior to the

Board making an order, I read this particular section of the regulation as saying that if we'd made firm commitments, so we've expended money prior to the Board making a decision, then we get an opportunity to recover those.

     MR. RUPERT:  My question didn’t have detail.  I just wanted to make clear that a cost process presumably could take a lot of time on some projects or looking at a two- or three-year time period.  

I'm just wondering, is there any way that you would be able to say up front on your filings that there are these three projects that are not in the official approved budgets yet as of the first quarter, 2007?  We will be fully anticipating that by the time the Board makes its first rate order, our Board will have fully approved this stuff, and therefore you don’t spend more time on it than you might otherwise get in a more general capital expenditure program.


MR. BARRETT:  I would say that if that were helpful to the Board to identify in the filing with respect to certain large capital projects where they are in the approval process, then that's something that can be done.

     MR. RUPERT:  Like I say, I asked that mainly because of the size of some of the projects that you talked about and the huge complexity, probably in the millions of dollars.

      The other question I've got is just on OPA auction that occurred earlier this year, where you had some amount of your energy sold forward and you had the revenue cap raised by $5 a megawatt hour on that.

     MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

     MR. RUPERT:  Without getting into the background on how all that occurred, was that something where the price, this $5 premium, was that the subject of a negotiation between the company, the government - I assume, because, of course, the need to revise the revenue cap - and OPA?  I.e., do you have some experience in trying to negotiate about what the rate premium is in contracts that subject you to the production risk?

     MR. BARRETT:  We do have experience, because in the past we have sold into the market CfDs, to the extent that we had generation available to sell.  

I wouldn't suggest to you that this OPA auction is a good example of the pricing terms.  This is, from my perspective, very much a small amount of generation.  It was a pilot project.  It was done, I think, in part to help facilitate some of the things that the OPA wanted to do in terms of forward curve, price discovery, development, and assistance for the market.

      So I wouldn't use the $5 as being a representative estimate of the cost of taking market price risk exposure.

      One of the things that I would note about the OPA auction:  I had some discussion today about the appetite and interest for these types of contracts.  There was a relatively small amount of power sold through the OPA auction process.  And, in fact, only about 25 percent of the generation that was offered through that process was actually subscribed by parties, which we took to mean that there really isn't much appetite, quite frankly, for storage contracts.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Who would like to ask questions of Andrew and the OPG team?  

Jay?

     MR. SHEPHERD:  Why do I always have to go first?

     MS. NOWINA:  Don't go, then.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm looking at your slide, Mr. Barrett, on this summary filing approach that you're proposing.

     MR. BARRETT:  Yes.

     MR. SHEPHERD:  And I'm trying to get my head around it, both in terms of the schedule, that I don't know how you fit that into 12 months, which it looks like you have to do.  But let's leave that aside for a second and just talk about what you're proposing to file when.

      In this summary filing, the initial filing early next year, what would be missing from that which would normally be in a cost-of-service filing?

     MR. BARRETT:  It would simply be the level of detail. 

We would provide information on all of the elements of a revenue requirement, but we would provide them at a higher summary level, so there wouldn't be all of the supporting schedules that you would normally see in a full filing.  So you would have information on the revenue requirement, on the production forecast.  

Now, we go through a business planning process every year, and that process is concluded in December.  So we would have fresh information that would form the basis of this slide.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this wouldn't be for the test period, the test year, that you're talking about?


MR. BARRETT:  Yes, it would.  Our business-planning process looks forward five years.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MR. BARRETT:  So we would have information coming out of that process for 2008 and 2009, and that information would form the basis of both this summary filing and the more detailed filing, which would happen later in the year.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you'd have the detailed information.  You just wouldn't file all of it?


MR. BARRETT:  Quite frankly, we wouldn't be able to pull together a detailed filling and make it available early in the year.  However, if there's a preference to not have this kind of what I would call a screening filing, trying to screen what the key issues are, but, rather, have a full filling and use that as the basis for identifying what the important issues for the hearing are, if there's a strong appetite for that, we could accommodate that, as well.  It would just take us longer.


That would not be early in the year, but probably the middle of the year, in terms of pulling that material together.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Well, that was my supplementary question, is:  How would the Board be able to tell what needs to be considered fully in a hearing unless it sees the evidence?  I mean, unless you're going to tell the Board what you think should be considered at --


MR. BARRETT:  Well, certainly as a part of this filing, we envisioned that we would -- we would from our perspective ‑‑ sorry.  Michael reminds me that the summary filing would be evidence.  It would be part ‑‑ would be attached to an application; it would be evidence.  It just wouldn't have all of the level of detail that one would see in a full cost‑of‑service filing, but you would be able to see, looking at that material, what the key drivers of our costs are, the key things that are changing from the interim rate period.  


So you would know what the moving pieces are, what the big cost drivers are, and it would be our expectation, if we're going to have a limited issues cost-of-service process, that we would focus on those key issues, key cost drivers.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Larry.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That was my supplementary.  I'm cut off.


MR. MURPHY:  Larry Murphy, AMPCO.  

If you were going through this truncated version, presumably you're using lots of the data that was used at the time you put together the first set of estimates.  If you had the MOE and the Ministry of Finance and CIBC looking over your shoulder, are you likely to come up with estimates that are radically different than the ones you did last time?


MR. BARRETT:  I take it what you're saying, "the last time" is the time that the interim rates were set.


MR. MURPHY:  Right.


MR. BARRETT:  Those interim rates were set using preliminary 2004 business-planning information.


A lot of things have changed in our business since then, quite frankly.  When we were going through that process with the government, for example, we had plans to bring back Pickering units 2 and 3.  We subsequently made a decision not to do that.


MR. MURPHY:  Mm‑hm.


MR. BARRETT:  We had no plans at that point to refurbish Pickering B or examine new nuclear.  We subsequently had a direction from the government to examine both of those issues.  So there's been a number of changes since then, and that would have to be reflected in the material that we would file.


MR. MURPHY:  But it's fairly easy to come in here and make adjustments for them in your numbers and see what the likely impact is going to be.  

I guess my question is:  Do you expect that those changes that you have mentioned would lead to drastically different results than what we have right now?  Have you reason to believe that?


MR. BARRETT:  I wouldn't use the term "drastic".  We certainly are aware of significant changes in our business.  I am aware of certain cost pressures.  But until the business-planning process is concluded and we have final numbers, I can't give you a final answer on that.


MR. MURPHY:  Okay.


MS. NOWINA:  Other questions?


MR. FULTON:  It's Sheldon Fulton.  

And I think first, since I was responsible for the OPA auction, I'd like to clarify a couple of numbers.  It was closer to 45 percent of the energy that sold in the two auctions.  It was 13 terawatt hours, about $950 million, which I think you characterized as a small amount of power, but I still think that's a fairly significant amount of power.  It depends on one's perspective.  


I think it's also important to recognize there were reserve prices.  Reserve prices were set by the two participants, and there were credit limits, and, again, they were set by the two participants.  And I'd suggest that the combination of those is what limited not the appetite of the market to buy additional volume, but I do have a question.


And my question is:  If you have got a cost of service and you're being settled at an hourly price, would you have any objection to some portion of your output being sold forward?  And then the ‑‑ if the answer was no to that, what kind of mechanism would you see in terms of then who would be responsible for selling that output forward from those assets?


MR. BARRETT:  If I could just get some clarification, you said that we would be getting hourly prices?


MR. FULTON:  No.  I'm saying that you've got a cost of service and you're selling into the hour ‑‑ you're delivering into the hourly market, rather than selling.


MR. BARRETT:  Yes.


MR. FULTON:  So you're delivering into it, and same mechanism as you currently have, I would presume.  So you've got to swap against that hourly price.  

Would you have any objection of some portion of that volume, at some point, being sold forward?


MR. BARRETT:  I guess it would depend on the circumstances.  It's difficult to speculate about the hypothetical you're suggesting.  I don't really have a lot of details about what the terms and conditions of this forward sale might be and whether we'd be appropriately compensated for any risks that would arise that forward obligation.


MR. FULTON:  I'm not sure it's a total hypothetical, since you did, in fact, do that in April as part of the auction, so there is a structure and a mechanism that existed ‑‑


MR. BARRETT:  If I could just respond to that, our participation in the OPA auction was from the non‑prescribed assets of the company, not from the regulated assets.  So from our perspective, at least - and I appreciate you may not share it - we see it as a very different kettle of fish.


MR. FULTON:  No, I recognize that.  My question was whether you would object to some portion of the prescribed assets being sold forward in a similar mechanism.


MR. BARRETT:  And I think it would depend on the terms and conditions and circumstances at the time.  


MR. FULTON:  No, I recognize that.


MS. NOWINA:  Other questions?


MR. POWER:  If I could just speak up for the auction.  Sorry, Rob Power.  

Concurrent with the auctions, do you know how much power was sold in the over-the-counter markets as a result of the price signals from the auctions?


MR. BARRETT:  No, I do not know. 


MR. POWER:  To our information, there was quite a lot of activity in the over-the-counter market that actually benefitted from seeing the reserve prices and the price signals from it, just to pass that back.  

I just wanted to confirm none of the power from the prescribed assets is sold forward now from OPG.  And do you have a sense of what percentage of the remaining non‑prescribed is sold forward?


MR. BARRETT:  No, I don't have that information.


MR. POWER:   Okay, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Anyone else?  

Michael.


MR. LYLE:  Returning to the bottom of slide 2, it states that: 

"Market capability is a criterion that can be met by all regulatory approaches.  These baseload plants are operated under the market rules in the same manner as other generators." 


And I take it this is intended to state that there's no need for the payment structure to drive operational efficiencies because you comply with the market rules.  Is that what you're getting at here?


MR. BARRETT:  With one exception.  We -- as I think we'd mentioned before in some of our submissions, we have some peaking water capability at our Beck facilities.  In the interim regulation, there's an incentive mechanism which provides us with price signals from the market to give us directions in terms of how we should and when we should offer that generation into the marketplace.


The idea, as I understand it, was to align the company's interest, in terms of the timing of generating that electricity, with customers' interests, and that would be best reflected in tying that to market price signals.


But other than that, the rest of the generation is baseload generation.  Whenever it's available, it's offered into the market in runs.

     MR. LYLE:  And just so that I’m clear, you're not saying that if you're not operating at optimal market efficiency, you're in breach of the Market Rules, are you?

     MR. BARRETT:  So far as I am aware, there's no obligation in the Market Rules on any generator to operate at optimal efficiency, if we could ever agree on what optimal efficiency is.

     MR. LYLE:  So in other words, there's no incentive built into the rules to improve operational efficiency?     
MR. BARRETT:  The incentive around operational efficiency flows from the payment structure.  Under the interim regulation, we only get paid when we generate.  So if our units are off-line, we're not receiving any revenue. 

And that's a fairly strong incentive to get those units on line, I can assure you.  

     MS. NOWINA:  Other questions?  

I guess that concludes our meeting, then.  Thank you very much, everyone.  


Just a reminder that we're looking for your further submissions, if you wish to make them - you don't have to  - by September 29th.  And we'll take those into consideration as we ponder this further.  


It's been a very informative day, and I appreciate everyone's candour and all the good questions. 


Thanks very much.

     --- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:03 p.m.
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